Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Environmental Technology & Innovation

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/eti



# A review of recent advances in the synthesis of environmentally friendly, sustainable, and nontoxic bio-lubricants: Recommendations for the future implementations

# Muhammad Ali Ijaz Malik<sup>a</sup>, M.A. Kalam<sup>a</sup>, M.A. Muitaba<sup>b</sup>, Fares Almomani<sup>c,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> School of Civil and Environmental Engineering, FEIT, University of Technology Sydney, NSW 2007, Australia <sup>b</sup> Department of Mechanical Engineering, University of Engineering and Technology (New Campus), Lahore 54890, Pakistan

<sup>c</sup> Department of Chemical Engineering, Qatar University, P.O. Box 2713, Doha, Qatar

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 25 June 2023 Received in revised form 19 August 2023 Accepted 13 September 2023 Available online 20 September 2023

Keywords: Energy saving Bio lubricants Tribology Lubricant additives Nano-particles Environmental sustainability Eco-protection

## ABSTRACT

Conventional petroleum-based lubricant resources are depleting rapidly, and their utilization severely threatens the environment. Environmental sustainability emphasizes the need for an alternative to petroleum resources. The lubricants play a significant role in machinery's adequate energy-saving performance. Therefore, the tribological aspects of machinery's maximum efficiency should be considered. The current study reviews the part of bio-lubricants towards environmental sustainability. This review has been conducted according to the PRISMA approach, where the sources of bio-lubricants, tribological performance, the role of additives and nanoparticles, benefits and disadvantages, production techniques, economic aspects, and future scope were explored and discussed. Bio-lubricants possess a better viscosity index, lubricity, biodegradability, and non-toxic and renewable nature than petroleum lubricants. However, lower thermo-oxidative stability and higher pour points due to moisture content require further improvements. Food security is another significant concern for bio-lubricants. Consequently, it emphasized the importance of algae-based bio-lubricant sources in reducing the threat to food security, water purification, and greenhouse gas mitigation. Further improvements and optimization of production methods are required to increase lubricant yield rates and promote sustainability. The importance of new (algae-based) bio lubricant substitutes with details of their physicochemical properties for a sustainable future is highlighted in this review research.

© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	Methodology	3
3.	Significance of tribology	4
4.	Tribological benefits of bio lubricants	5
5.	Lubricant base stocks	5
0.	5.1. Bio lubricant base stocks	5
	5.1.1. Vegetable oils	5

\* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: falmomani@qu.edu.qa (F. Almomani).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2023.103366

2352-1864/© 2023 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/).

	5.1.2. Fatty acids	6
	5.1.3. Microalgae	6
6.	Physicochemical properties	8
	6.1. Viscosity and viscosity index	8
	6.2. Flash point	8
	6.3. Carbon residue	8
	6.4. Moisture content	8
	6.5. Pour point	8
	6.6. Total acid number (TAN)	8
7.	Biodegradability	8
8.	Lubricant oil regeneration	9
9.	Lubricant additives	9
	9.1. Hydraulic fluid	10
	9.2. Heat transfer fluid	10
	9.3. Cutting fluid	11
	9.4. Metalworking fluids	11
	9.5. Minimum quantity lubrication (MQL)	11
	9.6. Gear oil	11
10.	Driving forces of engine oil development	11
	10.1. Emission standards	12
	10.2. Global fuel economy standards	12
11.	Tribological performance	12
12.	Impact of nano-particles	13
13.	Production techniques	16
	13.1. Epoxidation	16
	13.2. Esterification/transesterification	17
	13.3. Estolide formation	18
	13.4. Selective hydrogenation	18
	13.5. Microwave technology	18
	13.6. Microwave and supercritical/ subcritical	19
14.	Advantages and disadvantages	19
15.	Lubricant oil market share	19
16.	Life cycle assessment	21
17.	SWOT analysis	21
18.	Future prospects	21
19.	Conclusions.	21
	CRediT authorship contribution statement	22
	Declaration of competing interest	22
	Data availability	22
	Acknowledgment	22
	kererences	22

## 1. Introduction

The world's population is growing at an alarming pace of 83.1 million per year, which is mainly responsible for the rise in demand for natural resources (ljaz Malik et al., 2021). Petroleum fuels play a significant part in meeting the world's energy needs. Global primary energy consumption more than doubled, from 270.5 EI in 1978 to 580 EI in 2018 (Kober et al., 2020). European Union (EU) projects that 12% of global energy demand will be fulfilled by renewable sources in 2030 (Hájek et al., 2021). As per estimates, worldwide energy consumption by transport is projected to rise by an average of 1.8% per year from 2005 to 2025. Fossil fuels are a primary source for the transportation sector, approximately 97.6% of energy utilization in the transport sector meet through fossil fuel utilization. Scientists reported the depletion of fossil fuel reserves within 50 years as per their current utilization (Jjaz Malik et al., 2021). Moreover, the transportation sector utilizes global primary energy approximately 18% and is accountable for CO<sub>2</sub> emissions (23%) around the globe, which eventually marks global warming (Usman et al., 2022). However, the environmental concerns, depletion of fossil fuel resources, and hike in their prices alarm the researchers to explore the avenues to cope with such issues (Ağbulut et al., 2020a). The scientists after significant research came to know that most of the total energy extracted from petroleum sources is wasted as a result of friction between mating parts inside the engine and drag force faced by vehicles during movement (Vaitkunaite et al., 2022). Moreover, 17 to 19% of engine power approximately consume to overcome friction which greatly affects its performance (Ali et al., 2018). Lubricant oil is primarily responsible for the effective performance of mechanical systems by providing facilitation in sliding motion between mating parts (Chen et al., 2022). Lubricant oil mainly includes two components; one is base oil and the second is additive. The base oil served as a major component with 70 to 99% of lubricant formation (Dehghani Soufi et al., 2019). Additives mainly include dispersants, anti-wear characteristics, higher flashpoint, higher viscosity index, and higher pour point (Ahmad et al., 2022). The nano-additives have demonstrated significant potential sources to improve tribological performance because of their small size and ability to fill the valleys among mating parts (Uflyand et al., 2019). The substantial increase in lubricant oil spillage and inefficient lubricant oil recycling techniques mainly harm the ecosystem. As per estimates, 50% of lubricant oil dispose of into the environment and 95% of this disposed lubricant which put adverse impacts on human lives and the ecosystem (Xu et al., 2019). It is approximated that 1 million liters of drinking water are polluted by 1 kg of petroleum lubricants (Barthlott et al., 2020). Moreover, the biosphere receives 10 to 15 million tons of oleochemicals (of petroleum origin) each year, and about 40% originate from urban runoff, spills, condensation of exhaust from marine engines, refinery processes, and municipal and industrial waste. Bio-based lubricant oils are biodegradable, renewable, and nontoxic and the ecosystem remains unharmed during their spillage (Saxena et al., 2022). Bio-lubricants are classified as sustainable lubricants due to their carbon-neutral nature (Durango-Giraldo et al., 2021). It is expected that the bio-lubricant market will rise by 15 to 20% in the next two decades (Almasi et al., 2021). A bio lubricant can be produced from edible (palm, sunflower, coconut, olive, soybean, peanut oil, rapeseed, and linseed oil) or nonedible (plant, animal fats, and microalgae) sources (Almasi et al., 2021; Salih and Salimon, 2021). However, bio-lubricants possess certain undesirable properties like higher pourpoint, lower kinematic viscosity, and poor thermo-oxidative stability (Khan et al., 2022). The extracted biofuels from food crops are known to be first-generation biofuels, they possess limited ability to reduce climatic transformation, replace petroleum sources, and economic growth due to land issues, raw materials, food security and requirement of fertilizers for growth. The non-edible energy crops known to be second generation of biofuels with more potential to replace petroleum, fuels than previous generations due to comparatively less requirement of land, but still the need of production land is substantial. The issues with first and second generation can be sort out by algae and cyanobacteria sources owing to rapid growth of micro-organisms (Almomani et al., 2022, 2023). This source named as third generation of biofuels as they utilize sunlight and CO<sub>2</sub> for production of hydrocarbon based fuels (Jacob et al., 2021). Therefore, the aim of this review article is to focus on the significance of algae-based sources in the production of bio-lubricants. Algae can be built both naturally and synthetically, however, the optimum conditions and production techniques need to be discovered for higher yield rate of algae-based lubricants. In additions, microalgae are also the fastest-growing photosynthesizing organisms, and they have the ability to complete a full production cycle in a matter of days. Depending on the species and production method, the yearly oil production from microalgae between 20,000 to 80,000 L per acre, which is several times greater than that of the top oil-producing terrestrial crop (palm) (Demirbas and Demirbas, 2011). Additionally, compared to their terrestrial counterparts, the necessary land footprint is 10-340 times lower. According to some statistics, microalgae can produce up to 200 times more oil than even the most productive vegetable oils (Sadvakasova et al., 2023). In recent years, lubricants have mostly been extracted from vegetable oils (edible or nonedible) but food security is a major concern for bio-lubricants. However, the current study compares all sources of bio-lubricants with each other on the basis of their impact on engine performance and tribology along with the future recommendation to extract bio-lubricants from algae-based sources. The major source of algae is fresh and salty water which significantly surrounds the ground surface of the earth. One just needs to focus on extraction techniques in order to harness natural energy sources rather than source exploration. Improvements in production methods may increase yield rates and promote sustainability for algaebased lubricants. A current study comprehensively analyzes the prospects of bio-lubricants in the automotive sector by focusing on their production methods, physicochemical characteristics, SWOT, LCA, lubricant formulation with additives. and biodegradability.

## 2. Methodology

This review was conducted as per the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (the PRISMA approach) as presented in Fig. 1. This approach includes screening papers related to bio-lubricants from 2010 to 2022. It is the minimum set of items for documenting in meta-analyses and systematic reviews that is supported by evidence. Such analysis helps the authors to improve the quality of the review by sorting quality articles and ensuring transparency in this systematic review. The problem identified in this review was the "Role of bio-lubricants for the sustainable environment". For this, the recommendations for Meta-Analysis were followed (Lelis et al., 2021). Depending on the population, intervention, comparison, and outcome (PICO), the research questions were centered on: (i) What are the sources/base stocks for the bio-lubricants? (ii) What are the production techniques for the bio-lubricants (iii) What are the primary modes of action of bio-lubricants? (v) How to access the performance of bio-lubricants? (vi) What are the applications, present challenges, and prospects of bio-lubricants?

The exclusion/inclusion criterion was used for the eligibility of research papers to avoid potential bias sources. The review was carried out by screening the Research titles, abstract, and keywords and considering only studies with prospects of bio-lubricants for a green and sustainable environment. Topics focused on renewable sources for the bio-lubricants, production techniques, performance assessment, applications (automotive, cooling, wear debris removal), additives for bio-lubricants, and their life cycle assessments were considered. Two electronic databases: Science Direct and PubMed were used in the search. The search strings are dependent on keywords relevant to research queries that were set up to find relevant articles in databases through the application of Boolean operators (AND, OR, and NOT). The keywords used in the search strategy are bio-lubricant, lubricant additives, tribological assessment, sources of bio-lubricants, production techniques for bio-lubricants, bio-lubricant characteristics, and bio-lubricant applications. The



Fig. 1. PRISMA approach for review on bio-lubricants.

articles were imported to Mendeley after the selection procedure. The repetition in downloaded articles was automatically removed in Mendeley, and the remaining articles were passed to the identification, assortment, and extraction stage. The articles were further filtered based on reading abstracts, keywords, and titles to remove doubts that arose from the identification stage. 1230 relevant articles were found from science direct and 171 articles were found from PubMed. A total of 1401 research papers were found from searching databases. A total of 62 duplicates were removed from databases, and the remaining 1339 research papers were left. Then, the title, abstract, and keywords were examined to find their relevance to the research study, and 606 articles were excluded. But after reading the full text, 488 papers were rejected for the study. The remaining papers which fulfill the criteria were found to be 245. Fig. 1 also shows the PRISMA approach used for review of the bio-lubricants.

## 3. Significance of tribology

Tribology accounts for frictional losses, wear and lubrication to cope with such issues. Krishnamurthy et al. (2021) declared that 1/3rd of fuel energy was utilized in overcoming friction. They proposed that 18% of frictional energy in the automotive sector can be reduced in the next 5 to 10 years, and 61% of frictional energy can be reduced in the next 15 to 25 years with the tribological advancements. About 23% of global energy consumption compensates for wear and frictional losses. Out of 23% of energy losses, 20% of such energy consumes in overcoming friction and 3% in replacing worn machine parts (Holmberg and Erdemir, 2017). The frictional and wear losses can be decreased by up to 40% through the employment of advanced lubricants, which correspond to savings of 1 to 1.55% of the country's gross domestic product (GDP) (Guo et al., 2019). The applications of tribological advancements are not only responsible for economic benefits but also accountable for environmental benefits (CO<sub>2</sub> reduction) (Vigneshwaran et al., 2020). It is approximated that about 75 to 82% of overall energy loss in the vehicle, and 68 to 72% of energy losses as frictional energy (Jason et al., 2020). Lubrication turned out to be the most important parameter for the reduction in energy losses. The unsaturated/saturated stretched fatty acid chains and polar group presence in bio lubricant made hydrodynamic



Fig. 2. Tribological benefits of biolubricants.

and boundary lubrication possible (Karmakar et al., 2017). Moreover, the development of lubricant additives and genetic modification of additives (fatty amides, amines, alcohols and propyl gallate) engineered specifically for bio lubricants with massive achievements (Singh et al., 2020b). In short, frictional energy losses in vehicles can be reduced by modification in the design of bearings and tires, advancements in tribology and lubricant additives.

## 4. Tribological benefits of bio lubricants

Fig. 2 displays the annual savings in terms of economy, fuel/electricity savings, and CO<sub>2</sub> emission abatement corresponding to passenger cars, trucks or buses, paper and mining missions. The facts indicate that a huge amount of money can be saved in the automotive sector through tribological advancements, and its significance cannot be denied. The fuel/electricity saving of approximately 385,000 million liters, 200,000 million liters, 78,000 GWh, and 550 TWh in passenger cars, buses or trucks, paper, and mining machines, respectively. Carbon dioxide is the primary source of global warming, and the advancements are focused on its abatement for environmental sustainability. The CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction of approximately 960 million tons, 530 million tons, 22.7 million tons and 290 million tons in passenger cars, buses or trucks, paper and mining machines, respectively.

## 5. Lubricant base stocks

The processing of crude oil for the transformation into petroleum feedstocks also acts as a derivative of mineral oil base stocks by removing insoluble and volatile components (Owuna et al., 2020). Therefore, the base stocks for synthetic oil originate from fossil fuels after adequate chemical modification. The base stocks for biomass mainly include animal and plants source for bio-lubricant processing. However, the other lubricant sources comprise vegetable oils and agriculture-based residues and need to be studied in order to have better understanding of lubricant oil characteristics (Gupta and Verma, 2015; Afonso et al., 2023).

## 5.1. Bio lubricant base stocks

## 5.1.1. Vegetable oils

Conventional lubricants are generally extracted from crude oil. They are typically consisted of mineral oils and different kind of additives which increase their overall performance and efficiency. On the other hand, bio-lubricants are based on renewable resources such as vegetable oils, animal fats and plant-based feedstocks like synthetic esters etc. One of the major drawbacks of conventional lubricants is its non-biodegradable nature which results in soil and water contamination if they are not properly disposed of. They are also generally caused pollution and are harmful to the ecosystems. On the contrary, bio-lubricants are biodegradable and easily break down naturally and are eco-friendly. In addition, conventional lubricants possess detrimental chemicals and additives which are harmful to humans.

However, bio-lubricants are less toxic and generally safer for human health. Vegetable oils served to be an effective source for bio-lubricant production owing to their eco-friendly nature. Although vegetable-based lubricant oils do not match petroleum-based lubricant standards, they exhibit higher flash points, lower evaporative losses, higher viscosity index and better lubrication (Masripan et al., 2020). On the contrary, vegetable oils indicate unsaturated fatty acids, which make them unsuitable for lubricating applications by imparting poor oxidation and thermal properties. But chemical modification procedures (hydrogenation, transesterification, and epoxidation) can reduce the degree of unsaturation and make vegetable oils comparable to conventional lubricants with improved tribological characteristics (Shankar et al., 2021). The common feedstocks for bio-lubricants are enlisted below:

Sunflower oil is mainly extracted from Helianthus Annuus seeds. Oil is primarily a triglyceride which is usually comprised of oleic acid (monounsaturated), linoleic acid (polyunsaturated), palmitic acid and stearic acid (saturated). Sunflower oil exhibits higher viscosity in cold temperatures owing to higher levels of unsaturated fats (Vickers, 2017). Castor oil is extracted from the Ricinus plant (castor beans). The triglyceride of castor oil contains 90% of fatty acid chains as ricinolate (ricinoleic acid). Castor oil possesses low-temperature viscosity and higher-temperature lubricity, making it perfect for diesel, jet, and racing engines (Rac and Vencl, 2009; Molefe et al., 2019). Rapeseed oil is mainly cultivated for oil-rich seed (54% Erucic acid).

Canola oil plant is a subtype of rapeseed plant with high nutritional value and low erucic acid. Jatropha oil is extracted from the Jatropha Curcas plant, which can grow in all terrain with a higher seed production rate and is used in synthesizing lubricants owing to higher fatty acid content (Singh et al., 2017). Coconut oil possesses a higher degree of saturated fats responsible for slow oxidation. Coconut oil derivatives (fatty acids), can be utilized as a transformer oil and lubricant. As palm oil has a higher percentage of saturated fat (palmitic acid) and monounsaturated oleic acid as the main component, it lends itself to producing lubricants with a more extraordinary load-carrying ability (Zulkifli et al., 2013c; Li et al., 2020). However, palm oil lacks thermo-oxidative stability. With 51% linoleic acid and 23% monounsaturated oleic acid, soybean oil is typically used for cooking. Soybean oil's ability to increase flash points and prolong transformer life made it suitable for dielectric fluid (Vickers, 2017). Table 1 portrays the physicochemical attributes of distinct lubricant oil sources. It can be observed that lubricant oil extracted from chicken fat and manhua exhibits the highest oxidation stability; however, the lubricant oil derived from linseed oil possesses minor oxidation stability. The lubricant oil can be extracted from many sources, and the research is going towards finding novel sources. Algae is one of the novel sources of lubricant oil with competitive physicochemical properties with other sources.

#### 5.1.2. Fatty acids

The primary constituent of fats and oils is fatty acids, which are esterified by glycerol. The chemical treatment of fatty acid carboxyl and unsaturated group residues provides the basis for oleochemical compounds (Zarli, 2020). The commercially accessible oils and fats are lipid mixes that primarily contain free fatty acids, monoacylglycerols, and diacylglycerols in varying ratios. They might also contain hydrocarbons, phospholipids, triterpene alcohols, sterol esters, and fat-soluble vitamins.

#### 5.1.3. Microalgae

Microalgae possess a high photosynthetic potential and  $CO_2$  retention. The primary industrial use of algal biomass is as a bio-lubricant source. The thousands of different species of algae with lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates in their composition (Kopp et al., 2017). The oil concentration varies from 10 to 50% depending on the microalgae condition and growth pace. The fact that a large agricultural field is not necessary for microalgae growth has worked in the microalgae's favor. The microalgae source is cheap as it can be produced by industrial effluents or in seawater (Kutluk and Kutluk, 2022). Higher surface protection against wear and a lower degree of friction are critical benefits of microalgal and yeast oils, which can be credited to an optimal combination of unsaturated and saturated fatty acids. Microalgal and yeast oils have a significantly reduced friction coefficient and metallic surface wear when compared to conventional mineral-based lubricants like PEG 200. The number of fatty acids in the feedstock has a major impact on its tribological characteristics, for example, the double bonds in the fatty acid chain make it extremely vulnerable to auto-oxidation when in contact with air.

Moreover, some limitations of using microbial oils as bio-lubricants, including oxidative and hydrolytic stability, can be further improved through chemical modifications in oil static sites, such as double bonds and acyl groups or by blending with some oils having different fatty acid profiles (Patel et al., 2021). Algal/ cyanobacterial biomass can be cultivated from industrial effluents and seawater more early in contrast with plants. The shorter cultivation time makes them desirable for an uninterrupted supply of raw material, and the ability to grow in seawater eliminates the requirement for fresh water. The pigments and carbohydrates are value-added by-products of algal biorefineries. The proportion of carbohydrates can be detached and utilized for bio-lubricant (C-BLUB) production to minimize production costs for primary products. Three factors including macronutrient starvation, salinity rise, and mild ozonation responsible for maximum microalgae/ cyanobacteria production (Borah et al., 2021). In open ponds or raceways (sea water, saline water, organic/inorganic growth medium, and industrial wastage), algal/cyanobacterial strains can outcompete bacteria by producing metabolites with an allelopathic impact (Borah et al., 2020). Algal biomass production linked with bioremediation can considerably decrease water and nutrient need. However, the production cost can be abridged by the continuous supply of raw materials. Simple stresses like nutrient starvation and ozonation for a brief passage of time can enhance

Physicochemical properties of lubricant oil sources.

	075			( )		< -/	( )	(mgkun/g)
Palm (Khan et al., 2022; Mobarak et al., 2014; Bahari et al., 2018)	875	5.72	4	13	39.8	12	165	0.24
Fish oil (Behçet et al., 2015; Papargyriou et al., 2019; Salih et al., 2021)	881	4.45	-	-	-	-5.8 to -3.6	177	0.53
Sunflower (Khan et al., 2022; Mobarak et al., 2014; Ramos et al., 2019)	878	4.45	0.9	3.42	202.87	−5 to −14	185	0.51
Chicken fat (Khan et al., 2022; Singh et al., 2019b; Aliana-Nasharuddin et al., 2020)	883	5.14	6.46	-	191	-	175	33.66
Coconut (Mobarak et al., 2014; Ramos et al., 2019; Appiah et al., 2022)	805	2.75	35.4	0	169	21	112	0.24
Cotton seed oil (Yaşar, 2020; Shaah et al., 2021; He et al., 2023)	897	4.19	1.88	-	197	-3	210	0.21
Corn (Gülüm and Bilgin, 2015; Di Lena et al., 2020; Pop et al., 2008)	878	4.42	1.3	-	237.5	-26	172	19.72–24.29
Soyabean (Khan et al., 2022; Bahari et al., 2018; Erhan and Asadauskas, 2000)	885	4.05	2.1	1	159.27	-2	176	0.98
Linseed (Mobarak et al., 2014; Otabor et al., 2019; Soltani et al., 2020)	890	3.74	0.2	-3.8	262.5	-15	178	8.92
Olive (Gryglewicz et al., 2003)	892	4.52	3.4	-13.5	-	-	179	-
Peanut (Mobarak et al., 2014)	882	4.92	2.1	5	-	-	177	-
Coconut (Khan et al., 2022; Atabani et al., 2013)	867	3.2	5.12	-	172.1	24	114	-
Rapeseed (Khan et al., 2022; Mobarak et al., 2014; Otabor et al., 2019)	880	4.45	7.5	-3.3	218.5	-15	62	9.75
Kusum (Shaah et al., 2021; Pali and Kumar, 2016)	875	4.34	6.5	-	-	-	152	21
Canola oil (Ge et al., 2017; Annisa and Widayat, 2018)	878	4.42	1.3	-	204	-66	172	-
Castor (Khan et al., 2022; Karmakar et al., 2010; Keera et al., 2018)	898	15.25	1.2	-13.5	88	-24	260	1.19
Manhua (Mobarak et al., 2014; Shaah et al., 2021)	895	4.77	8.2	-	-	-	210	36
Jatropha (Khan et al., 2022; Shaah et al., 2021; Gui et al., 2008)	878	4.82	2.3	2.75	204	-12	136	1.50
Hazelnut (Öztürk, 2015)	896	4.81	2.1	-	-	-	160	-
Neem (Mobarak et al., 2014; Shaah et al., 2021; Joshi et al.,	885	5.20	7.2	14.5	-12	-	44	18
Karanja (Khan et al., 2022; Mobarak et al., 2014; Shaah	918	4.80	6	9	172	-9	150	5.70
Algae (Khan et al., 2022; Rahman et al., 2021; Satputaley et al., 2017)	881	4.55	2.3	-	180	-	140	0.7737

the accumulation of carbohydrates in cells - the sonification technique used to extract lubricant oil from algae. Moreover, the physicochemical attributes of carbohydrates derived from cyanobacteria/algae exhibit compliance with mandatory attributes for bio-lubricants. Purba et al. (2022) Cultivated microalgae in wastewater to establish a correlation between the selected species for a specific type of wastewater. Desmodesmus maximus CN06 showed an excellent growth rate of 0.23/day, exhibited excellent nutrient removal efficiencies and highest Lipid productivity of 3.43 mg/L · day. The extracted fatty acids indicated a good potential to be applied for biodiesel and bio-lubricant production. Additionally, microalgae have a good potential to utilize  $CO_2$  and sunlight to generate biomass for commercial applications (Khanra et al., 2022). In such applications, microalgae are considered a promising Carbon capture and utilization technology (Nguyen et al., 2023).

## 6. Physicochemical properties

The physicochemical properties significantly impact lubricant performance, therefore it is necessary to study these properties in detail. The physicochemical properties of bio lubricant are briefly explained below:

#### 6.1. Viscosity and viscosity index

Bio lubricants mostly possess higher viscosity due to the higher chain length of the alcohol hydrocarbon chain in ester (carboxylic acid) bio-lubricants. However, the viscosity index (VI) explains the variation in viscosity due to temperature. As the VI is higher, the minor viscosity variation occurs over the comprehensive temperature range. The VI decreases by increasing the branches of carboxylic acid/alcohol while keeping a constant number of carbons. Ebtisam et al. (2017) investigated the impact of vacuum pressure on the viscosity index of lubricant oil during the transesterification of palm oil methyl esters with trimethylolpropane (TMP). The improvement in viscosity index from 171 to 214 was observed when vacuum pressure was reduced from 50 to 10 mmHg.

## 6.2. Flash point

Flash point (FP) is a minor temperature around which the vaporization of lubricant leads to an explosive air mixture. The FP exhibits an inversely proportional relation with flammability. The flashpoint assesses lubricant behavior under atmospheric temperature and indicates the lubricant volatility and fire tolerance. Bio-lubricants usually possess higher flashpoints (Balambica et al., 2022).

## 6.3. Carbon residue

The bio-lubricants possess lower carbon residue than base mineral oil because the bulk of mineral oils (paraffinic nature) account for higher residues. Carbon residue determines fuel decay and carbonaceous material formation that resultantly chokes the nozzle and hinders fuel injection.

## 6.4. Moisture content

Moisture content ascertains the amount of water in the lubricant sample and affects the physical properties of the lubricant, including viscosity, weight, conductivity and density. The oil's moisture content is equivalent to mass lost during heating. Bio-lubricant oils possess moisture content naturally, which is inevitable (Balambica et al., 2022). Therefore, to reduce moisture content in lubricant oil, the composition of base oil should be higher in bio-lubricants.

#### 6.5. Pour point

A pour point is a minor temperature beneath which a lubricant fails to sustain flow ability and maintain liquid properties. The viscosity index and pour moment are related to bio-lubricants. Trimethylolpropane (TMP), one of the ternary alcohols used in bio-lubricants, exhibits a lower pour point and less resilience against thermos oxidation. Larger branched alcohols with lower pour points and improved oxidative stability, such as neopentyl polyols, have shown promise as a substitute for bio-lubricants.

## 6.6. Total acid number (TAN)

TAN is the amount of base expressed in milligrams of potassium hydroxide needed to neutralize the amount of acid in one gram of lubricant oil. If its value is too higher, then it indicates higher contamination, oxidation and acidic sludges.

## 7. Biodegradability

Biodegradability accounts biological degradation of organic materials by living organisms into basic elements like H<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and biomass. A lubricant dissolves almost 80% in 28 days as per CECL-33-A-93 standard and 60% after 28 days per OECD 301B standard. Therefore, it is deemed to be degradable. Ecotoxicity is assessed through Lethal Dose (LD50), mandatory to kill 50% of the population. A lubricant is found to be non-ecotoxic if it possesses LD50 higher than 1000 ppm (Cecilia et al., 2020). The literature shows that vegetable oils undergo biodegradability of approximately 70%–100% in 28 days, making them eco-friendly substitutes for mineral oils (Durango-Giraldo et al., 2021). ASTM D5864 standard is followed to determine lubricant biodegradability. As aromatic/polar compounds significantly improves biodegradability (see Table 2). Alkyl benzene possess longest timeframe for biodegradability as compared to other feedstocks as shown in Table 2. A biodegradability possess linear relationship with flash point of lubricant. Moreover, kinematic viscosity served as critical factor in biodegradability assessment. The biodegradability of base oil cannot be prolonged through additives, as affected by the application of non-biodegradable substances (Sulfur, phosphorus, nitrogen, and zinc). Different researchers examined palm oil biodegradability through OECD 301F (Afida et al., 2015; Durango-Giraldo et al., 2022). They found 60% biodegradability after 28 days, due to ester linkage in the ester group. Bio-lubricants possess biodegradable nature, which is in their favor over conventional lubricants.

Biodegradability of lubricant feedstocks.					
Feedstock types	Biodegradability loss in 21 days (%)				
Non-edible vegetable oil	70–100				
Polyethylene glycols	10–75				
Alkyl benzenes	5-20				
Diesters	55–95				
Aromatic esters	0-90				
Polyols	5–95				
Mineral oils	15-75				

#### 8. Lubricant oil regeneration

Ecosystem sustainability and pollution control are the most common topics of current research in order to reduce adverse impacts of dumped petrochemical waste in environment. Regeneration of lubricant oil can significantly contribute in reducing these adverse effects on ecosystems through enhancing lubricant oil lifecycle and engine efficiency (Usman et al., 2021). The lubricant oil regeneration led the scientist to develop novel refining techniques. In this regard, many scientist presented their work in order to contribute in energy conservation. Usman et al. (2021) examined the tribological characteristics of regenerated lubricant oil and found that around 50% of lubricant oil properties can be recovered through regeneration. Moreover, brake power and brake specific fuel consumption can be improved by 4.4% and 7.84% respectively. Acid/clay technique is the most conventional method for lubricant oil regeneration. Although it produces significant acidic sludge but still it is most commonly used technique as compared to vacuum distillation, solvent extraction and hydrogenation. Modern technologies lubricant oil regeneration comprised of pyrolysis process, thin film evaporation, membrane technology, pyrolytic distillation method, other hybrid technologies like thin film evaporation with clay and solvent finishing, thermal de-asphalting with clay and solvent finishing (Parekh et al., 2021). Fresh lubricant oil possess higher kinematic viscosity than deteriorated lubricant oil due to thermal molecular breakdown when subjected to higher stress and fuel dilution (Hsu and Liu, 2011). A viscosity index determines thermal stability of lubricant oil, as fresh lubricants possess higher viscosity index than deteriorated lubricant oil. However, the lubricant oil can regain viscosity and viscosity index through regenerative techniques as compared to deteriorated lubricant (Epelle et al., 2017). Higher specific gravity (SG) depicts higher moisture content, distinct heavy components (oxides, sludges, soot) along with higher ash content and dissolved metal concentration. A lubricant oil when gets deteriorated, the SG becomes higher as compared to fresh lubricant. The removal of impurities from lubricant during its regeneration significantly reduce SG (Sadraddin and Haji, 2022). Fresh lubricant oil always possess higher flash point (FP) because of the presence of volatile compounds in deteriorated lubricants and fuel dilution. But the regeneration process can be effective in raising the FP of deteriorated lubricant for its reuse (Usman et al., 2020). Higher TBN value and lower TAN values depicts stability of lubricant oil as they provide resistance against lubricant oil degradation. A fresh lubricant possesses higher TBN and lower TAN as compared to deteriorated lubricant oil. These properties can also be improved through lubricant oil regeneration (Sadraddin and Haji, 2022). It can be concluded that regeneration not only allows lubricant oils to regain lubricity and tribological characteristics, but also allows lubricant oil to improve engine performance and efficiency.

#### 9. Lubricant additives

The main objective of using additives in lubricant oil is to improve tribological parameters, prolong degradation rate and improve rheological aspects (Gulzar et al., 2016). The additives can modify chemical properties by reacting on the interface site to improve tribological parameters. In addition, the rheology of lubricant can be enhanced by modification in physical properties (Danilov et al., 2021). Corrosion inhibitors, detergents, and demulsifiers can prolong the degradation rate of fat. The corrosion inhibitor produces chemical changes at the interface working side to avoid rust—the detergent work as an antioxidant through chemical changes in the bulk working site. The dispersants function as anti-foam agents or demulsifiers without any change at the interfacial working site (Braun, 2017).

Engine oil covers most of the global lubricant market applications (Chowdary et al., 2021). The operating conditions of the engine are categorized into low and high loads. Boundary friction dominates in high-load conditions, whereas non-boundary conflict dominates in low-load conditions. Endurance tests are usually performed under these conditions to yield useful outcomes in terms of wear loss in respectively assigned parts and fuel consumption. Table 3 comprehensively explains the finding of previous researchers regarding the performance of bio lubricant additives. The engine oil should exhibit a viscosity index greater than 90 to ensure appropriate working (Abdul Raof et al., 2022). Rico et al. (2002) found the minor wear scar diameters (WSD) under 264 to 490 N loading conditions. However, 0.533 and 0.612 mm WSD were recorded for pure trimethylolpropane esters (TMPE) and polarity oil (PAO). They postulate that the lubricity of PAO can be further improved by highly polar TMPE. The reduced WSD of 0.5 mm indicates the role of TMPE as a wear reducer with 5% TMPE in polarity oil.

Authors observed that a 3 to 7% addition of TMPE in commercial oil (CO) is sufficient for lower WSD and coefficient of friction (COF) (Zulkifli et al., 2013a; Raof et al., 2022). For 3% TMPE in CO, 0.28 mm WSD was obtained compared to

A comprehensive summary of bio lubricant additives performance.

Bio-lubricant sources	Findings
Palm-based TMPE + Molybdenum disulfide (MoS <sub>2</sub> )	1 wt% of $MoS_2$ and 1 wt% of surfactant in TMPE. The mean WSD at ISL for small
nanoparticle + surfactant (oleic acid) (Gulzar et al., 2017)	GnP size is 2.48 mm, whereas, for large GnP size, it is 2.66 mm. WSD produced
	by pure TMPE was 2.68 mm.
Palm-based TMPE + GNP + Phosphate ester (PE) (Rashmi	5% of PE and 0.1% of GNP gave a 16.2% reduction in WSD (0.34 mm for 392 N $$
et al., 2017)	load)
Palm-based TMPE + Palm oil + nanoglass (Yunus et al.,	0.5% nanoglass + 30% (98% Palm oil + 2% TMPE) + 70% CO achieved 33% of
2020)	WSD (295 $\mu$ m) reduction and improved 40% of COF (0.057)
Palm-based TMPE $+$ PAO $+$ graphene nanoplatelets	5% of TMPE in 95% of PAO and 0.05% GnP improves COF (0.0737) and WSD
(GNP) (Azman et al., 2016)	(0.42 mm) by 5 and 15%, respectively.
TMPE + Poly alpha olefin (PAO) (Rico et al., 2002)	5% of TMPE in PAO exhibits the best wear performance under load (264 to
	490 N)
Palm-based TMPE + Commercial oil (CO) (Zulkifli et al.,	3% of TMPE reduces 30% of COF (0.05) and WSD (0.28 mm), and 7% of TMPE
2013a)	gives the least frictional torque of 0.02 Nm.
Calophyllum inophyllum-based TMPE + CO (Srinivas et al.,	10% of TMPE in CO yields 391.36 and 467.62 $\mu m$ of WSD for 392 and 589 N
2020)	load, respectively. The formulation gave a small COF but failed at 785 N

0.36 mm in the case of CO and 0.78 mm in TMPE. COF directly impacts the efficiency and life of the machine and lubricant. They declared that 3% TMPE provided an adequate protection layer between mating parts, and 7% TMPE depicted the most negligible frictional torque of 0.02 Nm under 160 kg or 1569 N. But the higher concentration of TMPE in fatty acid may lead to the accumulation of corrosive acid during oxidation.

Kotturu et al. (2020) and Srinivas et al. (2020) assessed 396.11 and 391.36  $\mu$ m WSD for 20% Calophyllum inophyllumbased TMPE under 392 N load, respectively. However, the COF was about 0.0727 to 0.0788. Srinivas et al. (2020) postulated that synthetic engine oil could not sustain a load higher than 785 N before the breakage of the protection layer. A 0.25% of graphene nanoparticles (GnP) in TMPE produced the lowest WSD (48 nm) for the 2.5 N load condition ascertained by Liñeira del Río et al. (2018). The smallest COF, of 0.105, was obtained at 0.5% of GnP in TMPE due to the thin protective graphene layer which covers rough surfaces. The higher concentration of GnP may increase agglomeration tendency, which may increase WSD. It was found in literature studies that adding 0.05% GnP and 5%TMPE in polarity oil exhibit an increment of 5% in COF (0.0737) and 15% in WSD (0.42 mm) (Azman et al., 2016).

Rashmi et al. (2017) also studied the effect of GnP in TMPE base oil on tribological properties. The WSD reduced by 16.2% for 0.1 wt% of GnP and 5% phosphate ester at 392 N load compared with pure TMPE. It proves that GnP creates a protective layer to resist oxidation attacks. Similarly, the COF reduced by 7% for 0.1 wt% of GnP and 5% of phosphate ester at 785 N load in comparison with pure TMPE. Gulzar et al. (2017) studied the impact of nanoparticle size [1% of molybdenum disulfide (MoS<sub>2</sub>)] and surfactant (oleic acid) on wear protection in TMPE and compared the results with commercially available PAO. They noticed that surfactant improves the stabilization through adsorption onto nanoparticles. The Larger size nanoparticles of about 50 to 2000 nm demonstrated a lower agglomeration tendency than small nanoparticles (20–150 nm). The larger size GnP was observed to disperse well in oil compared to small size GnP particles without dispersant. The surfactant addition endorsed better suspension in different GnPs sizes. The TMPE to pure oil depicts an improved performance of 25, 14.28, and 37.5% than formulated PAO to pure oil in terms of weld point (WP), final non-seizure length (LNSL) and initial seizure load (ISL). The synthetic TMPE produced mean WSD at ISL 2.48 mm for small GnP sizes and 2.66 mm for large GnP sizes, compared to pure TMPE's 2.68 mm. Nanoparticles tend to cover mating surfaces and restore worn-out surfaces. GnP thus concurrently attends to and polishes the mating surfaces

## 9.1. Hydraulic fluid

Eco-friendly hydraulic fluid development also lies under the application area of TMPE in bio lubricant. Hydraulic fluids usually transmit power among moving machine parts, including tractors, automobiles, cranes, bulldozers, and construction equipment. Lab-scale Hydraulic Test Rig was developed to investigate hydraulic fluid formulation's wear characteristics and oxidative stability (Ugolini et al., 2023). The comparative analysis was made by investigating the performance of palm-oil-based TMPE under a temperature range of 80 to 100 °C for 800 h in the presence and absence of additives. They check variations in oil viscosity and acidity. The results showed that the Irgalube F10 A additives performed inferior to Irganox L135. After 800 h of exposure, TAN value for synthetic oil was 0.32 mg KOH/g, in contrast to 4.88 mg KOH/g for oil with no additives. The results depict that TMPE and Irganox L135 work well together as antioxidants. In a further investigation, the same authors carried wear and friction tests on a TMPE formulation including 1% Irganox L135 and discovered a decrease in COF from 0.08 to 0.06 in comparison with TMPE base oil without additives. The formed TMPE showed a high WSD in contrast to un-additive TMPE,

#### 9.2. Heat transfer fluid

Heat transfer fluid is used for heat transmission with oxidation resistance. Water has the natural ability for cooling and heat transfer, but it can corrode the surface as well temperature and pressure may limit its operations (Qazi,

2017). Therefore, using a waster as a cooling agent in machines is not viable. Heat transfer fluid specially designed in this regard has appropriate thermal conductivity, the heat of vaporization, and specific heat. Hear transfer exhibits a directly proportional relation with energy efficiency. Polyglycols, ester compounds, water–glycol fluids, and siliconebased greases or oils are the primary synthetic heat transfer fluids. TMPE has a somewhat higher thermal conductivity than hydrocarbons, which is mainly responsible for better heat transfer properties (Dong et al., 2022). In the Patent, published in 2012, Claeys et al. (2012) discuss the use of tryster as a heat transfer fluid in electric vehicles. Biomass and a mono-unsaturated fatty acid were used to create the ester. At 25 degrees Celsius, the coolant displays an electrical volume resistivity of 1010  $\Omega$ -cm, typically 1012  $\Omega$ -cm. At 20 °C, the current coolants typically exhibit specific heat of 2.00 kJ/kg · K, and at least 2.30 kJ/kg · K. Additionally, the current coolant composition often displays a thermal conductivity at 20 °C of 0.170 W/m · K., if not at least 0.200 W/m · K. The ester samples can be employed as a dielectric fluid since they possess electrical resistivities that are higher than those of water/glycol combinations.

## 9.3. Cutting fluid

Cutting fluids limit the excessive temperature increase during machine operations (Katna et al., 2020). Although mineral oils are cheaper, they perform poorly due to lower pour points, oxidation instability, and viscosity loss under higher temperatures. The usage of cutting fluid is hazardous due to its explosiveness in the presence of the oxidizing agent. The non-edible vegetable oils are biodegradable, eventually broken down and mineralized by bacteria into  $CO_2$  and hydrogen (H<sub>2</sub>). A safe reintroduction of biomaterial into the natural carbon cycle is ensured by biodegradability. In naturally occurring climatic circumstances, non-edible vegetable oils deteriorate more quickly than mineral oils (Katna et al., 2020).

## 9.4. Metalworking fluids

Fatty acid esters and TMPE are metal working fluids' most commonly used additives (MWF) (Mathiesen, 1998; Sani et al., 2023). MWF facilitate lubrication through thin layer among metal tools and workpiece mating surfaces. MWF also acts as a coolant for reducing heat among tools and workpieces to achieve better productivity and efficiency. However, low toxic and biodegradable lubricant and minimum quantity lubrication (MQL) is required for eco-friendly machining operations (Talib and Rahim, 2014; Sen et al., 2021). A machining process with the MQL technique can be evaluated through modified jatropha oil (MJO) and jatropha oil-based TMPE with additives like 0.05wt% hexagonal boron nitride (hBN) nanoparticles. MJO with 0.05 wt% hBN faced the minor cutting temperature (210 °C) and cutting force of 383 N compared with pure MJO and MWF. Moreover, the tool chip contact length on cutting inserts can be significantly reduced through additives in MJO. Abdul Sani et al. (2019) found that plant oil-based TMPE with mixable ionic liquids additives through MQL practice can replace the MWF. They can reduce 1 to 2% friction angle, 7 to 10% cutting temperature, 22 to 25% chip thickness, 2 to 3% friction coefficient, 4 to 5% specific cutting energy, 8 to 11% tool chip contact length and increase 25 to 29% shear angle in comparison with synthetic ester lubricant.

## 9.5. Minimum quantity lubrication (MQL)

MQL is an eco-friendly technique that sprays the least amount of compressed gas and lubricant to the cutting zone through the nozzle for lubrication and cooling purposes (Dong et al., 2021). Dong et al. (2021) investigated the performance of palm, peanut, castor, soybean and cottonseed oil through temperature achieved during MQL steel milling. They found the best cooling effect for palm and cottonseed oils due to short carbon chain lengths conducive to MQL milling.

#### 9.6. Gear oil

Gear oil significantly reduces noise, corrosion, and heat transfer and improves efficiency in automotive and industrial applications (Arca et al., 2013; Ghosh et al., 2021). However, vegetable oils do not exhibit desired viscosity for the abovementioned applications; therefore, lubricant oil usually heats in inert conditions (thermal polymerization) to generate molecular weight products (Arca et al., 2013). The lubricant can be developed from crude or waste through hydrothermal liquefaction for viscous applications.

## 10. Driving forces of engine oil development

The lubricant oil should be prepared to meet fuel economy and emission standards.

#### 10.1. Emission standards

The world is imposing strict emission standards to prevent the ecosystem from pollutants. Each country follows standards to regulate emissions and impose a strict tax on the polluting agency. America, Europe, and China are the top-of-line countries in adopting strict emission standards. Since the transportation sector is mostly to blame for the deterioration of the environment, this unfavorable climate change is primarily caused by emissions from automobiles, forcing the entire globe to implement robust rules for minimizing exhaust emissions from vehicles (Ijaz Malik et al., 2021). The policy pacts for emission control include the UN framework convention held in 1992, the Doha Amendment in 2012, the Kyoto protocol held in 1998, the Copenhagen Accord held in 2009, and the Paris Agreement in 2015 (Rodman Oprešnik et al., 2018). As per estimates, the transportation sector contributes between 60 and 80 percent of all hazardous environmental emissions and provides 95% of the energy utilized in automobiles globally (Kuczyński et al., 2019). The main reasons for emissions are incomplete combustion, acidic contaminants, and excessive temperature. Therefore, the lubricant originating from bio-sources can be useful in reducing carbon emissions and its cooling impact inside the engine can also be beneficial in reducing NOx emissions.

#### 10.2. Global fuel economy standards

The United States Department of Transportation (USDOT) announced new vehicle fuel economy standards for 2024 to 2026. The standards include achieving 49 miles per gallon for the vehicles in 2026 and this fuel consumption is 33% less than in 2021. These standards are set to reduce carbon emissions by 2.5 billion metric tons for the year 2026 (Bui and Yang, 2022). From 41.9 miles per gallon in 2015 to 92 miles per gallon by 2030, the EU has mandated an average fuel efficiency across manufacturer fleets of around 57 U.S. mpg by 2021 (Forbes, 2019). China is also imposing strict standards for fuel economy like other global countries. As per Chinese standards, the average target set for 2025 is 4 liters per hundred kilometers (9.41 miles per gallon). This is a 20% reduction from the previous target of 5L/100 km (11.76 miles per gallon) in 2020 (Transportation I.C.o.C., 2019). In 2019, Japan projected fuel efficiency standards for passenger vehicles in 2030. This standard includes 25.4 km per liter by the year 2030 with an improvement of 32.4% as compared to 2016 (Transportation I.C.o.C., 2019). Lubricant oil plays a significant role in the fuel economy of the engine as it considers like blood in the engine which is not only responsible for wear and friction reduction but also responsible for cooling between mating parts and removal of wear debris among mating components. The viscosity of lubricant oil plays a keen role in its performance in the engine, if the viscosity is too high then the engine will serve force for pumping it and ultimately results in power loss and if its viscosity is too low then the lubricant oil is unable to sustain itself among mating parts and results contact between them which will lead to wear and tear.

#### 11. Tribological performance

Tribology allows the analysis of three main streams (friction, wear, and lubrication). Vegetable oils possess an ester structure that plays a keen part in lubrication. The fatty acid contains both polar and non-polar ends. The polar end was responsible for the layer on the metal surface, and the non-polar end was responsible for COF reduction. Tribological tests, mainly four-ball and pin-on-disk tests, usually ascertain the tribological performance (WSD, COF, wear scar volume (WSV)) of bio-lubricants. Four ball tests evaluated lubricant behavior under extreme pressure and wear scars. However, the WSD and COF are temperature, speed, and load-dependent and sometimes it becomes difficult to compare them through tests. Therefore, the testing conditions and chemical composition of lubricant oil should be accounted for in each application. Table 4 reviews different bio lubricant sources and test methods to compare their performance.

Bahari et al. (2018) compared the lubricant sample with soybean and palm oil and found that palm oil showed a lower COF of 0.105 than soyabean oil (0.112). The smaller COF can be credited to the linear chain alignment of saturated fatty acid and the formation of a protective layer on the surface in the case of palm oil. However, soyabean oil contains unsaturated fatty acids that usually contain double bonds that do not cover the surface through a protective layer and are responsible for higher COF. It was found that the amount of palm oil methyl ester in lubricant oil of more than 5% causes corrosion and oxidation. The study also stated that the characteristics of bio-lubricants are significantly influenced by moisture, oxidation, and temperature (Cao et al., 2020). Erhan et al. (2006) studied the tribo-performance of palm oil-based TMP ester under various lubrication regimes (boundary, hydrodynamic and elastic hydrodynamic) on four balls testing machines. The results indicated tribological performance improvement in WSD and COF in TMP ester-based lubricant. Maleque et al. (1998) used three lubricant samples in diesel engines to compare their performance. Three lubricant samples were neat mineral oil, neat pongamia oil and blend of mineral and pongamia oil. The least brake specific fuel consumption (BSFC) and maximum brake thermal efficiency (BTE) were achieved for neat Pongamia oil under medium and higher loading conditions owing to lower viscosity. Moreover, the Pongamia reduced frictional losses and emissions of metal traces compared to other lubricant samples.

Bhale et al. (2008) evaluated the potential of non-edible vegetable oil in the automotive sector as an alternative to conventional lubricants. They concluded that lubricants derived from non-edible vegetable sources are biodegradable and renewable and do not disturb the food security of any country. Moreover, their renewable nature reduces their operating costs. Vegetable oils possess more advantages than conventional lubricants in terms of lower evaporative losses,

Review of bio lubricant sources and their tribological performance.

Bio lubricants	Standard	Test method	Tribological conditions	Results	References
Palm oil	(SAE20W50)	High-frequency reciprocating rig (Ball on the flat), steel-to-steel pair contacts.	Sliding speed of 500 rpm, Contact load of 60 to 120 MPa and temperature of 80 °C	Less corrosion, less COF, good oxidation properties, Strong lubricant film stability	Haseeb et al. (2010), Fazal et al. (2012, 2011), Masjuki and Maleque (1997), Anastopoulos et al. (2001), Maleque et al. (2000), Mahmud et al. (2019)
Soyabean oil	-	Four ball tribo tester	Sliding speed of 1200 rpm, Contact load of 1.7 GPa and temperature of 100 °C	Less COF, better lubricity, and non-toxicity	Bahari et al. (2018), Adhvaryu et al. (2005), Asadauskas et al. (1997)
Castor oil and palm oil	(SAE20W40)	Pin on disk tribo wear tribometer Four ball wear testers	Sliding speed of 0.13 m/s, Contact load of 3.685 GPa and temperature of 100 °C	Less COF, Higher viscosity index, Lower volatility, higher antioxidant concentration	Zulkifli et al. (2013c), Arumugam and Sriram (2012), Wu et al. (2014)
Jatropha oil	-	Pin on disk machine	Sliding speed of 1000 rpm, Contact load varies from 50 to 150 N and temperature of 40 °C	Less wear and COF	Bekal and Bhat (2012), Mushtaq and Hanief (2021)
Coconut oil	(SAE20W50)	Four ball tester	Sliding speed of 1.4 to 5.6 m/s, Contact load 2 MPa and temperature of 90 °C	Lower COF, better lubricity, and higher anti-wear properties	Jayadas et al. (2007), Thottackkad et al. (2012)
Waste palm oil	(SAE40)	Four ball tester (Ip-239)	Sliding speed of 1.4 to 5 m/s, Contact load 100 N and temperature of 27 °C	Lower COF and higher viscosity	Kalam et al. (2011), Noorawzi and Samion (2016)
Palm oil with TMP ester	(SAE40)	High-frequency reciprocating machine	Sliding speed of 1770 rpm, Contact load 100 N and temperature of 27 °C	Good anti-wear properties (Lower COF and WSD)	Erhan et al. (2006)
Pongamia oil	(SAE20W40)	4-stroke single, cylinder, water-cooled CI engine	Sliding speed varies from 300 to 1500 rpm, Contact load of 200 N, Temperature varied from 100 to 200 °C	Higher BTE, lower frictional losses and emission	Maleque et al. (1998), Singh et al. (2019a)
Chemically modified rapeseed oil	(SAE20W40)	High-frequency reciprocating tribometer test rig	Sliding speed varies from 600 to 2200 rpm, Contact load varies from 100 to 300 N and Temperature of 60 °C	Higher oxidative stability, Improved pour point, lower COF	Jaina and Suhanea (2013), Guglea et al. (2022)

higher viscosity index, higher flash point, and lubricity. Jaina and Suhanea (2013) employed a high-frequency reciprocating Tribometer test rig to ascertain the tribo-performance of bio-lubricants and commercially available synthetic lubricants in the cylinder liner and piston ring of diesel engines. They concluded that bio-lubricants possess good thermal stability, oxidative resistance, improved pour point (flowability at a lower temperature), lower COF and better wear characteristics than conventional lubricants. Owing to the development of a stable polymeric coating on metal surface during boundary lubrication, they discovered a 23% lower COF in the case of chemically modified bio-lubricants. However, the inclusion of anti-wear additives, responsible for a 12% higher wear rate was seen in bio-lubricants than in commercially available synthetic lubricants. Arumugam and Sriram (2013) used neat soyabean oil, epoxidized soyabean oil, and hydrogenated soyabean oil as base oil and evaluated their operational efficiency to develop engine bio-lubricants. The results indicated that epoxidized soyabean oil and hydrogenated soya beans possess lower viscosity than engine oils. The viscosity analysis provides the optimum proportion of the bio-lubricant, including neat soyabean oil, epoxidized soyabean oil, and hydrogenated soyabean oil.

## 12. Impact of nano-particles

The tribological advancements highlight the effectiveness of nanoparticles for improved tribo-performance in terms of wear and friction (Ağbulut et al., 2020b). Many researchers employed inorganic and organic nanoparticles as additives in bio-lubricants for improved performance (Xin et al., 2021). The tribo-performance of nano-based lubricants significantly depends upon the nanoparticle size. The smaller nanoparticle size can support the lubricant to penetrate among intersecting surfaces in order to reduce wear and friction between them (Luo et al., 2014a). The mechanical characteristics of nanoparticles can be ascertained by their size, which greatly affects the tribological performance of nano-based lubricants. Therefore it is necessary to discuss the tribological impact of nano-particles on lubricant oil. Hardness exhibits an inverse relation with particle size for nano-particle heights greater than 100 mm. Therefore, the hardness of nano-based

oils should not be higher because exceeding specific limits will result in indentation and scratching (Abd Elhaseeb et al., 2023).

The root means square roughness of the lubricated surface is a critical parameter in the selection of nanoparticle size. Lower lubrication is required for bigger particles because they get a deposit on the surface (Rabaso et al., 2014). Apart from size, the nano-particle shape is also a key indicator of tribological performance. The nano-particles possess five distinct shapes, i.e. onion, granular, tubular, spherical and sheet (Xie et al., 2016). The spherical shape of nano-particle is mainly preferred because nanoparticles have large surface energy owing to a higher surface volume ratio. In addition, the spherical-shaped particles possess homogeneous surface energy in all directions, like the ball bearing mechanism, and equilibrium can easily be achieved when particle agglomerate with each other's (Yu et al., 2011). The dispersion stability of nanoparticles is another key indicator of tribological performance because agglomeration greatly impacts sedimentation rate and ability to prevent wear and friction. The dispersion stability directly affects the sedimentation and clogging; if dispersion stability is less, there will be more clogging and sedimentation (Wu et al., 2018b).

The dispersion stability can be improved through surfactants and surface modification techniques (Kałuzny et al., 2020). The nanoparticle concentration is the third indicator of effective tribological performance and stable suspension. Therefore, the optimal concentration of nanoparticles is required to decrease wear and friction (Cecilia et al., 2020). The optimal concentration depends on dispersion duration, test condition, dispersion method and nature of nanoparticles, while counter surface roughness and type of base oil do not affect the tribological characteristics of nanoparticles (Luo et al., 2014b). The mechanisms which affect the tribological performance of nano-particles are the mending effect, polishing effect, rolling effect and protective layer effect (Singh et al., 2020a). In the rolling or ball-bearing effect, the nanoparticles usually convert sliding friction to rolling friction through three-body rolling effects among mating surfaces. In the mending effect, the large asperities transformed into smooth surfaces. In the protective layer formation mechanism, the protective film developed between mating surfaces to prevent direct contact.

Cui et al. (2019) employed graphene nanoparticles by volume of 3% in palm oil along with a stabilizer (alkylphenol polyoxyethylene ether-10). They found that a blend of palm oil with graphene nano-particles produces 34.3% lower COF (0.295) than neat palm oil for similar conditions. The graphene adhered between mating surfaces and formed protective layers against wear and friction in the friction test. Razak et al. (2019) used dispersed nano clay in palm oil and observed that 0.04% nanoclay in the palm could reduce COF by 16% with 0.692 mm WSD compared to 1.020 mm WSD in the case of mineral oil. Gulzar et al. (2015) used palm oil methyl esters transesterified with TMP and two nanoparticles (CuO and MoS<sub>2</sub>) to assess sliding wear. They used oleic acid (1%) as a surfactant and CuO and MoS<sub>2</sub> (1%). The MoS<sub>2</sub> blended lubricant oil produces 29% less sliding than palm oil, and MoS<sub>2</sub> blended oil possesses higher stability than CuO blended lubricant oil. The CuO blended lubricant oil produced 20% lower wear than palm oil. Zulkifli et al. (2013b) assessed the impact of TiO<sub>2</sub> particle addition into palm oil-based TMP esters. They observed 15 and 11% lower COF and WSD in case of TiO<sub>2</sub> blended lubricant oil.

Popoola et al. (2021a) used a different proportion of CuO nanoparticles (0, 0.75 and 1.50 wt%) in lubricant oil and evaluated their tribological properties through ball-on-disk tribometer under three loading conditions (2, 5 and 8 N) and three distinct speeds (150, 200 and 250 rpm). The output parameters were flash temperature, COF and wore rate. The lowest COF of 0.048 was achieved at 250 rpm speed, 0.75% concentration and 5 N load. The lowest wear rate of 0.012 was achieved at 200 rpm speed, 0.75% concentration and 5 N load. The highest flash temperature of 0.035 was reached at 250 rpm speed, 0.75% concentration and 5 N load. The highest flash temperature of 0.035 was reached at 250 rpm speed, 0.75% concentration, 217.6768 rpm speed, and 5.0909 N load. They also performed scanning electron microscopy (SEM) on aluminum alloy disk specimens to comprehend the lubrication mechanism in piston ring cylinder assembly. As observed from Fig. 3(a) that higher concentration of nanoparticles aids in mending the surface through a protective layer. The tendency for wear crack was seen higher for a lower concentration of nanoparticles (0.75% wt). For higher concentrations of nanoparticles (1.50 wt%), the mending effect started to improve by filling crevices between mating surfaces and enhancing the ability to protect against wear. The tiny nanoparticles produced stable dispersion, such that particles penetrated mating surfaces and filled wear scars as aligned with previous research (Gulzar, 2018).

Baskar et al. (2017) examined the journal bearings in terms of their tribological performance for SAE20W40 synthetic lubricant and chemically modified rapesed oil (CMRO) as bio lubricant dispersed with CuO, WS<sub>2</sub> and TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles as an anti-wear additive (see Fig. 3(b)). The journal bearing test rig was used to measure COF, wear rate and oil film thickness under 10 kN load and 3000 rpm speed. The best results were obtained for CuO additives lubricant oil in terms of 27% lower COF and 47% lower wear rate than synthetic lubricant.

The presence of contaminants, moisture, temperature, pressure, and rough metal surfaces is inevitable in most lubricant applications. They can boost oxidation presence, resulting in higher friction, wear rate and early corrosion (Salih and Salimon, 2021; Ağbulut et al., 2021). Therefore, lubricants should possess higher oxidative stability. Moreover, the antioxidants can be used as additives to prolong the oxidation time of lubricant. The impact of zinc diethyldithiocarbamate (ZDDC) and zinc dialkyl dithiophosphate (ZDDP) on the oxidative stability of palm oil was assessed by Azhari et al. (2017). However, the main disadvantage of ZDDP is that it can produce ash during combustion and may poison emissions control catalysts. To mitigate the hazardous impact of ZDDP, the Hexagonal Boron Nitride powder can be used as an alternative to ZDDP due to its chemically inert nature, high load-bearing capacity, higher thermal stability along with lower coefficient of friction (Çelik et al., 2013).



(a)



(b)

Fig. 3. (a) SEM micrographs of disk specimens assessed with the formulated bio-lubricants (i). 0.75 wt% CuO (2 N) (ii). 0.75 wt% CuO (5 N) (iii). 0.75 wt% CuO (2 N) (iv). 1.50 wt% CuO (2 N) (v). 1.50 wt% CuO (5 N) (Vi). 1.50 wt% CuO (8 N) (Popoola et al., 2021a) and (b) SEM image of nano CuO; (i) SEM image of nano WS<sub>2</sub>; (ii) SEM image of nano TiO<sub>2</sub> (Baskar et al., 2017).

The tests were carried out in compliance with ASTM D2272 standard, and it was found that the oxidation time for ZDDP (2 wt%) was 128 min, which was more than that ascertained with palm oil (32 min) and ZDDC (62 min) due to presence of sulphides in ZDDP that delayed the radical chain formation. Sen et al. (2020) used 50 nm dispersed alumina nanoparticles in palm oil for 0.3 and 1.5% concentration in 0.3% v/v polysorbate 80 (surfactant). They observed a 200% rise in thermal conductivity with a 0.9% concentration of  $Al_2O_3$ . The stability of  $Al_2O_3$  could be reduced at higher concentrations which is dangerous for the thermal characteristics of lubricant oil. Table 5 presents the impact of different nano additives on

Impact of nano-additives on synthetic and bio-lubricants.

Nano	Synthetic lubricant	Bio-lubricant
additives		
TiO <sub>2</sub>	COF (30%) - 1% wt TiO <sub>2</sub> in SAE 5W-30 - pin-on-disk	COF (10%) - 0.1% wt $TiO_2$ in pongamia oil - pin-on-disk
	tribometer (Rashed and Nabhan, 2018)	tribometer (Singh et al., 2018)
	COF (48%) - 0.25% wt TiO <sub>2</sub> in SAE 5W-30 - pin-on-ring	
	test (Ali et al., 2016)	
CuO	COF (53.98%) - 1% wt CuO in engine oil (HD 50) - pin-on-disk tribometer (Namer et al., 2019)	COF (41.42.%) - 1% wt CuO in castor oil - pin-on-disk tribometer (Noori et al., 2019)
MoS <sub>2</sub>	COF (50%) - 1% wt MoS <sub>2</sub> in molding oil - piston skirt liner	$COF (76.02\%) - 1\%$ wt $MoS_2$ in castor oil - pin on the disk
	tribometer (Awang et al., 2019)	tribometer (Noori et al., 2019)
		COF (57.89%) - 0.1 to 1.25% wt MoS <sub>2</sub> in sun flower oil - pin on the disk tribometer (Namer et al., 2019)
ZnO	COF (22%) - 0.6% wt ZnO in engine oil (10W-40) - pin on disk	COF (14.74%) - 0.1 to 2% wt ZnO in castor oil - pin on disk
AlcOs	$COE(24.22\%) = Al_{e}O_{e}$ in engine oil (SAE 5W-30) = piston ring	COE(27.76%) = 0.08% wt Al-O <sub>2</sub> in polanga oil = four ball
11203	assembly (Ali 2018)	trihometer (Singh et al. 2019c)
	COF(59.17%) = 1% wt Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> in engine oil (SAF 20W-40) =	(ingli et al., 2015e)
	pin-on-disk tribometer (Thakre et al., 2016)	
SiO <sub>2</sub>	COF (36.84%) - 1% wt SiO <sub>2</sub> in engine oil (SAE 15W-50) -	COF (50.85%) - 0.25 to 1.25% wt SiO <sub>2</sub> in coconut oil -
-	pin-on-disk tribometer (Rashed and Nabhan, 2018)	pin-on-disk tribometer (Ghaednia et al., 2015)

synthetic and bio bio-lubricant performance. A green synthesized silica nano additive added to biodiesel blend showed a great influence on engine speed, engine load, and performance (Bitire and Jen, 2023).

Table 6 depicts the comprehensive review of lubricant formulations with different nano-particle concentrations to check the lubricant oil stability. The tungsten disulfide in polyaphaolefin (PAO) base oil produced the most stable lubricant oil with a stability time of 4320 h. However, the amalgam of Zirconia and silicon dioxide with 20# machine oil exhibit the least stable lubricant with a time of 12 h. Different dispersion techniques of nanoscale ionic material (NIM), silanization, dispersant, surface-induced-atom-transfer-radical polymerization (SI-ATRP) and solid surface method (SSM). When silicon dioxide (SiO<sub>2</sub>) blended with Glyceryl Oleate (GMO) through the silanization technique produced stable composition with a stability time of 3600 h.

#### **13. Production techniques**

Bio lubricants can be categorized as per their chemical conformation in synthetic and natural oils. Natural oils usually originate from animal fats and vegetable oils, while synthetic oils are comprised of natural oil as base oil, and further modifications can be made according to requirements. The modification can be made through microorganisms, polyglycols, ester synthesis, perfluoroalkyl ethers, and polyalcohols in natural oil (de Sousa et al., 2022). The main sources of bio lubricant are seeds, animal fats, and vegetable oils, which go through a distillation and extraction process for conversion into oils (Cecilia et al., 2020). However, the bio lubricant can be synthesized through the aforementioned modifications, and possess lubricity, wear resistance, corrosion resistance, and oxidative stability greater than mineral oils (Uppar et al., 2022). However, synthetic oil has some limitations, including increased cost during chemical modification, higher volatility, higher toxicity, reduced frictional tolerance, and mismatch between esters and mineral oils in contrast to neat vegetable oils. Chan et al. (2018) Bio lubricants possess a wide range of applications owing to their low cost and higher biodegradability than mineral oils (Emmanuel et al., 2009). The consumption of natural oils to synthesize bio-lubricants is inconsistent due to food security issues, crop prices, and social imbalance. Synthetic esters are developed by chemical treatment of plant-based oil and animal fats. The main focus of today's research is to optimize the physicochemical attributes of bio-lubricants through different chemical modifications or catalytic processes. The unsaturated oils usually modify through a chemical process as their double bonds are susceptible to reaction with atmospheric oxygen.

#### 13.1. Epoxidation

The molecules with a higher degree of unsaturation are more susceptible to hydrolytic degradation (Salimon et al., 2012a). Moser and Erhan suggested an auto-oxidation process that may occur through the reaction between oxygen and free radicals to produce peroxy radicals. This peroxy radical then reacts with lipid molecules to form hydroperoxide and other free radicals, and thereby oxidation process may propagate (Salimon et al., 2012b). The modification in the alkene group and the addition of alkyl side chains improve thermo-oxidative stability and other physicochemical attributes (Cecilia et al., 2020). Epoxidation is the key process to modify C–C double bonds through alkyl hydroperoxides, dioxiranes, peroxy acids, peracids as foundations to produce bio-lubricants with better acidity, improved pour points, higher adsorption on the metal surface, higher viscosity index, better lubricity and higher thermo-oxidative stability (Salimon and Salih, 2009). After epoxidation, it is necessary to modify physicochemical properties especially pour point, further through acyloxylation, hydroaminomethylation, hydroformylation, interaction, alkylation, cooligomerization, acylation,

Review of lubricant formulations with distinct nano-particles.

Particle		Size (mm)	Base oil	Dispersion technique	Stability time	Observation
Carbon	Nanotube	100	PAO	Dispersant	24 h (Nunn et al., 2015)	Carbon nanoparticles are added to lubricants owing to their excellent mechanical, thermal, electrical and chemical properties
	Graphene	N/A	PEG400	NIM	720 h (Yang et al., 2017)	creation, and chemical properties.
	WS <sub>2</sub>	7	PAO	SSM	4320 h (Jiang et al., 2016)	Tungsten disulfide possesses excellent lubricious properties with a COE of around 0.3
Sulfide	$MoS_2$	3	PAG	SSM	336 h (Wu et al., 2018a)	Molybdenum disulfide possess high temperature applications, under higher load and speed owing to its ability to maintain its basic structure.
		2	Liquid paraffin	SSM	720 h (Li et al., 2006b)	TiO <sub>2</sub> is added to lubricants due to its exceptional catalytic and semiconducting characteristics
	TiO <sub>2</sub>	15	PAO spectrasyn 4	SI-ATRP	1344 h (Wright et al., 2016)	Moreover, it is non-toxic, chemically stable, and biocompatible. Nano TiO <sub>2</sub> particles are good
	-	25	Liquid paraffin	Silanization+ Dispersant	3600 h (Bogunovic et al., 2015)	oxidizing agents with large surface area and higher photo-catalytic activities.
	SiO <sub>2</sub>	12	PAO	NIM	48 h (Kim and Archer 2011)	
		23	PAO	SI-ATRP	1440 h (Chen et al., 2019)	
		25	GMO	Silanization	3600 h (Li et al., 2006a)	Silicon dioxide possess boiling and melting points of 2950 °C and 1713 °C respectively with the
		60	PAO100	Silanization	1440 h (Sui et al., 2015)	density of 2.648 g/cm <sup>3</sup> . Moreover, it is insoluble in water and acid but soluble in bydrefluorie acid
		100	RO base oil	Silanization	192 h (López et al., 2015)	in water and acid, but soluble in hydronuone acid.
Oxides		110	PAO	Silanization	1440 h (Sui et al., 2018)	
		200	PAO	Silanization	2880 h (Sui et al., 2016)	
	ZrO <sub>2</sub> /SiO <sub>2</sub>	100	20# machine oil	Other	12 h (Li et al., 2011)	ZrO <sub>2</sub> form a protective layer on mating surfaces through van der Waals forces and functions as nano-bearings among mating parts in order to protect them.
	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> /SiO <sub>2</sub>	70	Liquid paraffin	Silanization	2160 h (Jiao et al., 2011)	The lubricity can be improved owing to mending and ball bearing effect of Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> nanoparticles producing a self-protective film among mating surfaces. Moreover, its blends with SiO <sub>2</sub> imparts excellent tribological attributes.
	ZnO/Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	50	20# machine oil	SSM	672 h (Chen et al., 2012)	ZnO imparts anti wear characteristics to lubricant and its blends with alumina tri-oxide form stable lubricant formulation.
	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub>	80	20# machine oil	SSM	480 h (Luo et al., 2014a)	The lubricity can be improved owing to mending and ball bearing effect of $Al_2O_3$ nanoparticles producing a self-protective film among mating surfaces.

esterification and amino alkylation (Karmakar et al., 2017). Many researchers reported that modification processes significantly improve lubricity, thermo-oxidative stability, COF, pour point and viscosity index (Erhan et al., 2008; Salih et al., 2011; Salimon et al., 2010; Hwang and Erhan, 2006; Ahn et al., 2012). Both acetylation and esterification reactions were conducted through homogeneous acid catalysts (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) blended with alcohols (Hwang and Erhan, 2006; Kulkarni et al., 2013; Salimon et al., 2011). The reaction medium's corrosion potential leads to solid acid catalysts' formation through sulfated-SnO<sub>2</sub> and cationic exchange resins (Somidi et al., 2014).

## 13.2. Esterification/transesterification

Transesterification reactions include the replacement of glycerol moieties of the triacylglyceride with long/ branched chain alcohol. However, the esterification process includes a reaction between free fatty acid of natural oil and long-chain alcohol, ultimately forming respective esters (Salih et al., 2011). Both transesterification and esterification reactions can take place in the presence of acidic or basic catalysts. The properties of acids and alcohols significantly affect synthetic esters' physicochemical properties. Synthetic esters possess better properties in terms of higher flash points, higher pour points, lower volatility, and higher thermo-oxidative stability than their respective esters or natural oils (McNutt,

2016). The esters are prone to thermal degradation and hydrolysis. But thermal characteristics can be amended by substituting longer alkyl/branched chains such as trimethylolethane (TME), trimethylolpropane (TMP), 2-ethyl hexanol, neopentylglycol (NPG), pentaerythritol (PE), trimethylolethane (TMH) (Cecilia et al., 2020). Transesterification mainly occurs under acidic conditions, but this is a slow process and is intermittently used. The base-catalyzed reaction is approximately four thousand times faster and entails low temperature and reaction time in comparison with acid-catalyzed (Cecilia et al., 2020). The mineral acids like H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, HCl and H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> are mainly used as catalysts. Despite better conversion ability, there are several disadvantages related to corrosion, purification, and separation of obtained bio-lubricants. Considering the weaknesses, the ion exchange resins or oxides like WO<sub>3</sub>, Nb<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, ZrO<sub>2</sub>, Ta<sub>2</sub>O<sub>5</sub>, Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>, TiO<sub>2</sub> and zeolites show the potential to replace conventional mineral oils (Saboya et al., 2017a,b; Marx, 2016; Go et al., 2016; García-Sancho et al., 2017; Kuzminska et al., 2015). However, the 98% yielding can be achieved through base catalysts like alkaline earth oxides, carbonates, alkoxides and hydroxides compared with solid acid catalysts (Schwab et al., 1987; Kim et al., 2004).

#### 13.3. Estolide formation

The branched/oligomeric esters (estolides) are synthesized when the unsaturated site of one fatty acid gets attached to the carboxylic acid of other fatty acids through carbocation (nucleophilic attack) during the presence of acid catalyst (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) and oxidant (HClO<sub>4</sub>). Estolides have more resistance against hydrolytic degradation as compared to triglycerides. The physicochemical attributes of bio lubricant depend on the hydrocarbon chain length and estolide number as specified by estolides formed from 2-ethyl hexanol, oleic acid, and lauric acid (Brimberg and Kamal-Eldin, 2003; García-Zapateiro et al., 2013). The estolides possess higher lubricity, viscosity index, thermo-oxidative stability, and lower pour point (Salimon and Salih, 2009). Further, the estolides esters have higher biodegradability than commercially available estolides, which can only be used as a blend with vegetable oils with modified physicochemical properties (Cermak et al., 2006, 2013).

## 13.4. Selective hydrogenation

The degree of unsaturation exhibits an antagonistic impact on thermo-oxidative stability of bio-lubricant. However, the degree of unsaturation can be reduced through hydrogenation through Ru, Ni, Pt or Pd-based catalysts at higher temperatures (250–300 °C) and higher pressure (25–35 MPa) (Hassiotis et al., 2014; Sánchez et al., 2015). The hydrogenation (chemical modification) results from isomerization in cis and trans acid, as well as the decreased fluid ability of the lubricant. Therefore, hydrogenation is more suitable for solid lubricants or waxes. Thus, hydrogenation is not considered effective in improving physicochemical properties (Salimon et al., 2010).

#### 13.5. Microwave technology

Microwave heating transforms electrical energy to radiation by increasing the internal energy of reactant molecules, and this technology is mainly used to enhance transesterification. Significant energy saving can be achieved through microwave technology as it helps in reducing reaction time by 60% in comparison with conventional heating (convection/conduction) (Mohamad Aziz et al., 2021). Microwave heating is most suitable for drying polar compounds. The moisture presence aligns the OH bond and constantly varies the magnetic field to generate molecular friction and heat. Microwave heating is unsuitable for heating non-polar compounds and requires modification, such as polar species addition into a reactive mixture. The researchers have already studied the impact of adding the passive heating element and ionic liquid to heat non-polar substances (hexane, chloroform, toluene) (Kappe, 2008; Hoogenboom et al., 2009). Dipolar and polar ionization are two mechanisms to generate heat from microwave irradiation. The polar molecules in the reactive mixture are engaged in dipole-dipole interaction, as free ions are impacted by ionic polarization as oriented in the electric field. The applied electric field varies continuously as the ion field tries to re-align itself, which is responsible for heat energy loss through dielectric loss and molecular friction (Lidström et al., 2001). Sufficient energy is required for reactant molecules for effective collisions, and this sufficient energy is usually achieved from optimum temperature. The higher temperature provides higher reactant solubility and product conversion (Chuah et al., 2015). Methanol is generally used as a catalyst to drive the reaction in the forward direction with the generation of more methyl ester in less reaction time. The molar ratio of methanol to oil is usually kept between 6:1 to 60:1, with a conversion efficiency of 71.4 to 98.9%. A higher proportion of methanol is used for highly viscous oil to augment oil solubility in methanol (Chuah et al., 2015). The temperature measurement is a significant limitation in microwave oven by a thermocouple (k-type) due to arc formation when the interaction between microwave and metallic probe occur (Farag and Chaouki, 2015). This arc/spark can also be produced from metal scrap or chipped paint inside the surface. The hot spot usually occurs for materials whose dielectric loss increments with overheating or temperature.

#### 13.6. Microwave and supercritical/ subcritical

The microwave-assisted subcritical or supercritical process is a catalytic-free process that does not need any pretreatment or purification steps, as it is free from wastewater. This process is easy for trans-esterifying bio-based resources (Mohamad Aziz et al., 2021). However, the higher temperature and pressure required for both subcritical and supercritical reactions consume higher energy. Water is utilized in sub-critical conditions (2 MPa and 488 K) as a solvent to enhance oil extraction of jatrpha curcas oil seed through increasing porosity and weakening sample structure (Go et al., 2014). Lipid hydrolysis becomes more feasible as transesterification of fatty acid methyl ester (FAME) occurs at lower activation energy under 250 °C and 13 MPa. Parekh et al. (2021) used acetic acid and methanol solvent and found that the transesterification process takes place in 105 min with a 65.1% yield rate. A molar ratio of 1:42 was used for the transesterification of methyl acetate and rapeseed oil in another study of the non-catalytic synthesis of FAME under supercritical conditions. The yield rate was 97% in 45 min at 320 °C and 20 MPa (Saka and Isayama, 2009).

#### 14. Advantages and disadvantages

For holistic view of biolubricant performance, its advantages and disadvantages need to be discussed. It will open new avenues for future research in order to minimize disadvantages and utilization of biolubricants at a large scale. Vegetable oil has excellent lubricity, a higher viscosity index, and biodegradability is less toxic and renewable. But then, vegetable oil has less oxidative stability, higher pour point, higher biological deterioration (bacterial) and aqueous decomposition (Negi et al., 2021). Bio lubricants possess 2 to 4 times higher lubricity than petroleum-based lubricants, resulting in reduced friction and energy saving from 5 to 15%. Bio lubricants have a higher viscosity index and can be used in high-temperature applications, mostly above 250 °C. Bio lubricants produce lower emissions owing to higher boiling temperature ranges of esters (Bilal et al., 2013). Bio lubricants depict higher safety standards regarding lower volatility, oil mist, emissions, stable viscosity, and higher flash points. Bio lubricants create lower dermatological issues due to better compatibility with skin. Bio lubricants possess higher biodegradability and eco-friendly characteristics, reducing their disposal costs. Bio lubricants are non-toxic and have minimum corrosion tendency interlinked with energy savings. On the contrary, bio-lubricants possess a bad smell due to contaminants, are viscous at a lower temperature, and have lower thermooxidative stability at higher temperatures and lower pour points (Bilal et al., 2013). The limited availability of bio-lubricant base stock and higher production costs are significant challenges linked with bio-lubricant production. The numerous factors involved in the determination of bio lubricant cost. These factors comprised processing technology, plant capacity, feedstock quality, net energy balance in the purification process, storage and base stock prices etc. (Haas, 2005). The feedstock cost determines 75% of the total bio-lubricant cost (Miao and Wu, 2006). The lower pour point and lower thermos-oxidative stability are primarily responsible for bio-lubricant performance setbacks (Zhang et al., 2020).

## 15. Lubricant oil market share

The development of new product is not only enough if it is not marketize appropriately. It is necessary to have holistic view of market before product development in order to examine its adoptability. In this section, a trend of lubricant in market from last few decades is examined. The market analysis can give a brief idea for the characteristics of successful biolubricant. The lubricant market has faced drastic changes during the last few decades. The global lubricant demand has been 35 million tons per year since 1991. However, the global lubricant demand in 2004 was evaluated as 37.4 million tons, with 10% process oil, 53% in the automotive sector, 5% marine oils, and 32% industrial lubricants (Nagendramma and Kaul, 2012). In 2005, the global lubricant demand slightly increased to 37.9 million tons. In 2007, a sudden hike in lubricant demand was observed globally, with 41.8 million tons and a 0.8% growth rate. In 2012, a growth rate of 2% was observed. As a result, the bio-lubricant market is anticipated to expand to \$2.4 billion in 2025 at a rate of 4.1%, as the global demand for lubricants is anticipated to reach \$68.54 billion in 2022 (Unugul et al., 2020). There are a total of 1700 lubricant manufacturers worldwide, out of which three hundred are in Europe. The primary business of these manufacturers is to explore, extract and refine crude petroleum products.

About 1200 lubricant manufacturers concentrate on engine, hydraulic and gear oils. Around 2% of lubricant manufacturers meet 60% of global lubricant demand (Mang and Dresel, 2007), the manufacturers working currently on the market eco-friendly, biodegradable bio-lubricants in the US, Asia and Europe. High-performance multi-grade hydraulic fluid is one of more than thirty useful formulations based on soybeans based on lubricants, greases, and metalworking fluids (Mobarak et al., 2014). Bio lubricants rapidly replace mineral oil products (engine oils, hydraulic fluids, compressor oils, process oils, transformer fluids, turbine oils) in global markets. Fig. 4(a) depicts the segmentation of global markets based on application areas like engine oils, process oils, hydraulic oils, etc. and segmentation based on geographical area, Asia pacific, north America, western Europe, and the remaining world. It has been found the main application of lubricants includes engine oil, and Asia/Pacific is the biggest market for lubricants.



(a)



(b)



(c)

Fig. 4. (a) Segmentation of the global market based on the (i) application area and (ii) geographical area, (b) Life cycle assessment of (i) conventional lubricants and (ii) bio-lubricants and (c) SWOT analysis of bio lubricant impact in society.

#### 16. Life cycle assessment

Despite of many advantages of bio-lubricants in terms of environmental sustainability, the economic cost linked with bio-lubricants is higher owing to food security issues. But the bio-lubricants are based on a circular economy, as they can be recycled and regenerated again with zero carbon footprint. Lifecycle assessment (LCA) for both bio-lubricants and petroleum-based lubricants in terms of environmental sustainability and economy highlights conventional and biolubricants in terms of economy and environment, laying stress on awareness about the potential in this sector. LCA can be conducted in four stages. The first is scope determination, the second is inventory lifecycle, the third is the assessment of lifecycle impact, and the fourth is result interpretation. The lifecycle phases for conventional lubricants involve crude oil source exploration, crude oil extraction, crude oil refining, lubricant production, use and disposal into the environment. While the life cycle phases for bio-lubricants comprised farming, milling, refining of bio sources, lubricant production, use, and disposal to the environment (Baumann and Tillman, 2004). The main issue with bio-lubricants consumption is their production cost which is approximately 10 to 20 times higher than conventional lubricants. Comparable results can be achieved by adopting consistent metrics to benefit all stakeholders and, ultimately, the environment. These metrics would help analyze the ecological footprint and financial indicators necessary for development, planning and decisionmaking (Damjanović et al., 2016). It has been stated by the living planet report 2010 global footprint network that we need approximately 1.5 planets to fulfill the annual requirements of humanity and that 50% of global biocapacity lies within ten countries. Fig. 4(b) assesses the lifecycle for both conventional and bio lubricants. The bio lubricant production and utilization are based on a circular economy because its disposal at the landfill site and  $CO_2$  emission can be further utilized in synthesizing the raw materials. But conventional lubricants' waste disposal cannot be reutilized in the formation of lubricant raw material, and their life cycle is based on the linear economy. The primary difference between linear and circular economy is that linear economy emphasizes profit irrespective of the lifecycle. However, the circular economy targets towards sustainability of sources.

## 17. SWOT analysis

SWOT analysis accounts for the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats from the happening of a particular event. Fig. 4(c) displays the SWOT analysis for adopting biotechnology in the lubricant sector to ensure environmental sustainability. Bio-lubricants' strengths are higher lubricity, lower friction, improved fuel economy, environmental sustainability, higher detergency, higher Flashpoint, and renewable nature. The opportunities associated with bio-lubricants are job employment, exploration of renewable sources, reduced dependency on fossil fuels, savings in operational costs, and reduction in carbon footprint. The adverse impacts (weaknesses) of bio-lubricants are lower pour point, lower thermo-oxidative stability, and higher viscosity at a lower temperature. The threats involved in adopting bio-lubricants are higher feedstock costs, limited availability, and food security issues.

#### **18. Future prospects**

Modernization and expansion of the manufacturing sector satisfy the rising need for lubricants worldwide. Due to its relatively low labor costs and political stability, the Asia-Pacific region, driven by China, will continue to be the critical driver of growth in the lubricant markets (Mobarak et al., 2014). The main concern in 1950 regarding lubricant was maintaining appropriate viscosity without any acid components in the base oil. Base oils were demoted to the status of solvents or carriers for additions in the 1960s. However, in the 1970s, synthetic fluids with a consistent chemical structure outperformed mineral base oils in terms of performance.

The quasi-synthetic hydro-cracked lubricants were launched in Europe at low prices with properties similar to synthetic lubricants in the 1980s. In the 1990s, the environmental, health and safety standards influenced base oil development and the need to develop lubricants that could match these standards. Future research explores new avenues for developing bio-lubricant production techniques to lower production and operational costs. The production cost could also be reduced by exploring cheaper feedstocks that do not threaten food security. The new generation additives can also be developed, which ensure biodegradability and environmental protection. To ensure appropriate lubricant developments, it is mandatory to understand the methodological concept of biodegradability. This concept does not mean that biodegradability provides complete environmental protection because intermediate products are also involved in the decomposition cycle. But technology is advanced to a great extent. It can develop such lubricants and additives, which would perform far better than mineral oils in terms of zero carbon footprint, thermo-oxidative stability, viscosity, and volatility.

## **19. Conclusions**

The petroleum reserves are depleting rapidly because of their increasing demand in driving the economy of any country. Moreover, petroleum products serve as severe environmental threats because of their emissions. Therefore, the trend is shifting towards bio-lubricants that are renewable in nature and eco-friendly. This paper reviews the bio lubricant role comprehensively towards a sustainable environment. The findings of the paper are stated below:

A current review study entails lifecycle assessment, SWOT analysis, effective production techniques, lubricant oil feedstocks, market analysis, tribological performance and characteristics of biolubricants along with its comparison with conventional lubricants.

Although bio-lubricants possess a higher viscosity index, lubricity, biodegradability, and non-toxic and renewable nature compared to petroleum lubricants, they also exhibit higher pour point, lower thermo-oxidative stability, and moisture content. Moreover, food security also serves as a severe concern for bio-lubricants. These issues highlight the need to develop such additives that may prolong thermo-oxidative stability and reduce pour point and moisture for its smooth operations. Further, lubricant oil sources that do not threaten food security should be considered. The algae-based lubricant is one such example. The algae can be obtained from industrial effluents and seawater, readily available sources.

Future research should be focused on such additives and nanoparticles that would further enhance lubricity, thermooxidative stability, increase flash point, lower evaporation rate, higher biodegradability, and better wear protection. The production cost of bio-lubricant seems higher than that of petroleum products. Therefore, cheaper feedstocks should be considered to achieve an economic breakthrough. Moreover, such production techniques need to be developed that will play their role in minimizing cost. Mechano-chemical treatments, microwaves, or ultrasounds can significantly improve bio-lubricant yields under mild conditions. Most recently, enzymatic catalysis processes have produced bio-lubricants (algae-based) at low reaction temperatures with higher yield rates. Therefore, research needs to be done on algae-based bio-lubricants preparation along with their genetic modifications and performance in engines.

#### **CRediT authorship contribution statement**

**Muhammad Ali Ijaz Malik:** Conceptualization, Project administration, Supervision, Investigation, Methodology, Formal analysis, Data curation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. **M.A. Kalam:** Investigation, Methodology, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. **M.A. Mujtaba:** Investigation, Data curation, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. **Fares Almomani:** Conceptualization, Project administration, Supervision, Investigation, Methodology, Formal analysis, Data curation, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing.

## **Declaration of competing interest**

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

## Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

#### Acknowledgment

Open Access funding provided by the Qatar National Library.

#### References

- Abd Elhaseeb, D.M., et al., 2023. A review of the tribological properties of nanoparticles dispersed in bio-lubricants. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. J 237 (1), 27–52.
- Abdul Raof, N., et al., 2022. Prospects of plant-based trimethylolpropane esters in the biolubricant formulation for various applications: A review. Front. Mech. Eng. 10.
- Adhvaryu, A., Liu, Z, Erhan, S., 2005. Synthesis of novel alkoxylated triacylglycerols and their lubricant base oil properties. Ind. Crop. Prod. 21 (1), 113–119.
- Afida, I.S., et al., 2015. Biodegradability of palm-based lubricants. J. Oil Palm Res. 27 (4), 425-432.
- Afonso, I.S., et al., 2023. Conventional and recent advances of vegetable oils as metalworking fluids (MWFs): A review. Lubricants 11 (4), 160.
- Ahmad, U., et al., 2022. A review on properties, challenges and commercial aspects of eco-friendly biolubricants productions. Chemosphere 136622. Ahn, B.-J.K., Kraft, S., Sun, X.S., 2012. Solvent-free acid-catalyzed ring-opening of epoxidized oleochemicals using stearates/stearic acid and its
- applications. J. Agricult. Food Chem. 60 (9), 2179–2189.
- Ali, M.K.A., 2018. Improving the performance of automotive engines and tribological behavior of the piston ring assembly using nanomaterials as smart nano-lubricant additives.
- Ali, M.K.A., et al., 2016. Improving the tribological characteristics of piston ring assembly in automotive engines using Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> and TiO<sub>2</sub> nanomaterials as nano-lubricant additives. Tribol. Int. 103, 540–554.
- Ali, M.K.A., et al., 2018. Fuel economy in gasoline engines using Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/TiO<sub>2</sub> nanomaterials as nanolubricant additives. Appl. Energy 211, 461–478.
- Aliana-Nasharuddin, N., et al., 2020. Production of green diesel from catalytic deoxygenation of chicken fat oil over a series binary metal oxide-supported MWCNTs. RSC Adv. 10 (2), 626–642.
- Almasi, S., et al., 2021. A review on bio-lubricant production from non-edible oil-bearing biomass resources in Iran: Recent progress and perspectives. J. Clean. Prod. 290, 125830.
- Almomani, F., Hosseinzadeh-Bandbafha, H., Aghbashlo, M., Omar, A., Joo, S.-W., Vasseghian, Y., Karimi-Maleh, H., Shiung Lam, S., Tabatabaei, M., Rezania, S., 2023. Comprehensive insights into conversion of microalgae to feed, food, and biofuels: Current status and key challenges towards implementation of sustainable biorefineries. Chem. Eng. J. 455, 140588.

Almomani, F., Omar, A., Al ketife, A.M.D., 2022. Application of microalgae in wastewater treatment: simultaneous nutrient removal and carbon dioxide bio-fixation for biofuel feedstock production. In: El-Naas, M.H., Banerjee, A. (Eds.), Petroleum Industry Wastewater. Elsevier, pp. 87–101, Chapter 7.

Anastopoulos, G, et al., 2001. Lubrication properties of low-sulfur diesel fuels in the presence of specific types of fatty acid derivatives. Energy Fuels 15 (1), 106–112.

Annisa, A.N., Widayat, W., 2018. A review of bio-lubricant production from vegetable oils using esterification transesterification process. In: MATEC Web of Conferences. EDP Sciences.

Appiah, G., et al., 2022. Biolubricant production via esterification and transesterification processes: Current updates and perspectives. Int. J. Energy Res. 46 (4), 3860–3890.

Arca, M, et al., 2013. Gear oil formulation designed to meet bio-preferred criteria as well as give high performance. Int. J. Sustain. Eng. 6 (4), 326–331.
Arumugam, S., Sriram, G, 2012. Effect of bio-lubricant and biodiesel-contaminated lubricant on tribological behavior of cylinder liner-piston ring combination. Tribol. Trans. 55 (4), 438–445.

Arumugam, S., Sriram, G., 2013. Synthesis and characterisation of rapeseed oil bio-lubricant-its effect on wear and frictional behaviour of piston ring-cylinder liner combination. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. J 227 (1), 3–15.

Asadauskas, S., Perez, J.H., Duda, J.L., 1997. Lubrication properties of castor oil-potential basestock for biodegradable lubricants. Tribol. Lubr. Technol. 53 (12), 35.

Atabani, A., et al., 2013. A comparative evaluation of physical and chemical properties of biodiesel synthesized from edible and non-edible oils and study on the effect of biodiesel blending. Energy 58, 296–304.

Ağbulut, Ü., Ayyıldız, M., Sarıdemir, S., 2020a. Prediction of performance, combustion and emission characteristics for a CI engine at varying injection pressures. Energy 197, 117257.

Ağbulut, Ü., Ayyıldız, M., Sarıdemir, S., 2021. A general view to converting fossil fuels to cleaner energy source by adding nanoparticles. Int. J. Ambient Energy 42 (13), 1569–1574.

Ağbulut, Ü., et al., 2020b. Impact of various metal-oxide based nanoparticles and biodiesel blends on the combustion, performance, emission, vibration and noise characteristics of a CI engine. Fuel 270, 117521.

Awang, N., et al., 2019. An experimental study on characterization and properties of nano lubricant containing cellulose nanocrystal (CNC). Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer 130, 1163–1169.

Azhari, M.A., Sallehan, M.S. Md, Nazri, M.N., 2017. Oxidation stability comparison between zinc dialkyldithiophosphate and zinc diamyldithiocarbarmate induced palm oil bio-lubricants. [MechE, J. Mech. Eng. [MechE, (2).23–29,

Azman, S.S.N., et al., 2016. Study of tribological properties of lubricating oil blend added with graphene nanoplatelets. J. Mater. Res. 31 (13), 1932–1938. Bahari, A., Lewis, R., Slatter, T, 2018. Friction and wear response of vegetable oils and their blends with mineral engine oil in a reciprocating sliding contact at severe contact conditions. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. J 232 (3), 244–258.

Balambica, V., et al., 2022. Study on tribological characteristics of bio-lubricant formed from brassica napus oil. Mater. Today: Proc.

Barthlott, W., et al., 2020. Adsorption and superficial transport of oil on biological and bionic superhydrophobic surfaces: A novel technique for oil-water separation. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A 378 (2167), 20190447.

Baskar, S., Sriram, G., Arumugam, S., 2017. Tribological analysis of a hydrodynamic journal bearing under the influence of synthetic and biolubricants. Tribol. Trans. 60 (3), 428-436.

Baumann, H., Tillman, A.-M., 2004. The hitch hiker's guide to LCA.

Behçet, R, et al., 2015. Comparison of exhaust emissions of biodiesel-diesel fuel blends produced from animal fats. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 46, 157-165.

Bekal, S., Bhat, N, 2012. Bio-lubricant as an alternative to mineral oil for a CI engine—an experimental investigation with pongamia oil as a lubricant. Energy Sources A 34 (11), 1016–1026.

Bhale, P.V., Deshpande, N., Thombre, S., 2008. Simulation of wear characteristics of cylinder liner ring combination with diesel and biodiesel. Soc. Automot. Eng.

Bhaumik, S., et al., 2018. Analyses of anti-wear and extreme pressure properties of castor oil with zinc oxide nano friction modifiers. Appl. Surf. Sci. 449, 277–286.

Bilal, S., et al., 2013. Production of biolubricant from Jatropha curcas seed oil. J. Chem. Eng. Mater. Sci. 4 (6), 72-79.

Bitire, S.O., Jen, T.-C., 2023. Modulation of the best conditions for improved engine performance and reduced exhaust emissions using an eco-friendly nano additive in parsley biodiesel blend. Environ. Technol. Innov. 30, 103062.

Bogunovic, L., et al., 2015. An oil-based lubrication system based on nanoparticular TiO<sub>2</sub> with superior friction and wear properties. Tribol. Lett. 59 (2), 1–12.

Borah, D., Gopalakrishnan, S., Nooruddin, T., 2021. Carbohydrate biolubricants from algae and cyanobacteria. J. Polym. Environ. 29 (11), 3444–3458.

Borah, D., et al., 2020. Bioremediation and biomass production with the green microalga Chlorococcum humicola and textile mill effluent (TE). Proc. Nation. Acad. Sci. India Sect. B Biol. Sci. 90 (2), 415–423.

Braun, J., 2017. Additives. Lubr. Lubr. 117–152.

Brimberg, U.I., Kamal-Eldin, A., 2003. On the kinetics of the autoxidation of fats: Influence of pro-oxidants, antioxidants and synergists. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 105 (2), 83–91.

Bui, A., Yang, Z., 2022. US light-duty vehicle greenhouse gas standards for model years 2023–2026 and corporate average fuel economy standards for model years 2024–2026. POLICY.

Cao, Y., et al., 2020. Technologies for Conversion Bio-Lubricant Production in Fatty Acids Industrial Oil Plant: Application Principles and Green Technologies. pp. 175–200.

Cecilia, J.A., et al., 2020. An overview of the biolubricant production process: Challenges and future perspectives. Processes 8 (3), 257.

Çelik, O., Ay, N., Göncü, Y., 2013. Effect of nano hexagonal boron nitride lubricant additives on the friction and wear properties of AISI 4140 steel. Particul. Sci. Technol. 31 (5), 501–506.

Cermak, S.C., Brandon, K.B., Isbell, T.A., 2006. Synthesis and physical properties of estolides from lesquerella and castor fatty acid esters. Ind. Crop. Prod. 23 (1), 54–64.

Cermak, S.C., et al., 2013. Synthesis and physical properties of new estolide esters. Ind. Crop. Prod. 46, 386–391.

Chan, C H, et al., 2018. Tribological behavior of biolubricant base stocks and additives. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 93, 145–157.

Chen, Y., Renner, P., Liang, H., 2019. Dispersion of nanoparticles in lubricating oil: A critical review. Lubricants 7 (1), 7.

Chen, Q., et al., 2012. Enhanced tribology properties of ZnO/Al2O3 composite nanoparticles as liquid lubricating additives. J. Sol-Gel Sci. Technol. 61 (3), 501–508.

Chen, Y., et al., 2022. Important contributions of multidimensional nanoadditives on the tribofilms: From formation mechanism to tribological behaviors. Composites B 109732.

Chowdary, K., et al., 2021. A review of the tribological and thermophysical mechanisms of bio-lubricants based nanomaterials in automotive applications. J. Mol. Liq. 339, 116717.

Chuah, L.F., et al., 2015. Intensification of biodiesel synthesis from waste cooking oil (palm olein) in a hydrodynamic cavitation reactor: Effect of operating parameters on methyl ester conversion. Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif. 95, 235–240.

Claeys, S.G., et al., 2012. Ester Based Heat Transfer Fluid Useful as a Coolant for Electric Vehicles. Google Patents.

Cui, X, et al., 2019. Tribological properties under the grinding wheel and workpiece interface by using graphene nanofluid lubricant. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 104 (9), 3943–3958.

Damjanović, N., Davidović, Z., Šantić, T. Spasojević, 2016. Ecological and economical aspects of use of bio-lubricants and conventional lubricants. Goriva i maziva: časopis za tribologiju, tehniku podmazivanja i primjenu tekućih i plinovitih goriva i inžinjerstvo izgaranja 55 (3), 188–199. Danilov, A., Bartko, R., Antonov, S., 2021. Current advances in the application and development of lubricating oil additives. Pet. Chem. 61, 35–42.

Dehghani Soufi, M., et al., 2019. Biolubricant production from edible and novel indigenous vegetable oils: Mainstream methodology and prospects and challenges in Iran. Biofuels, Bioprod. Biorefin. 13 (3), 838–849.

Demirbas, A., Demirbas, M.F., 2011. Importance of algae oil as a source of biodiesel. Energy Convers. Manage. 52 (1), 163-170.

Di Lena, G., et al., 2020. Towards a valorization of corn bioethanol side streams: Chemical characterization of post fermentation corn oil and thin stillage. Molecules 25 (15), 3549.

Dong, L, et al., 2021. Temperature of the 45 steel in the minimum quantity lubricant milling with different biolubricants. Int. J. Adv. Manuf. Technol. 113 (9), 2779–2790.

Dong, J., et al., 2022. Experimental investigation and application of stability and thermal characteristics of SiO<sub>2</sub>-ethylene-glycol/water nanofluids. Int. J. Therm. Sci. 176, 107533.

Durango-Giraldo, G., et al., 2021. Palm oil as a biolubricant literature review of processing parameters and tribological performance. J. Ind. Eng. Chem..

Durango-Giraldo, G., et al., 2022. Palm oil as a biolubricant: Literature review of processing parameters and tribological performance. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 107, 31–44.

Ebtisam, K.H., et al., 2017. Manufacturing of environment friendly biolubricants from vegetable oils. Egypt. J. Pet. 26, 53-59.

Elagouz, A, et al., 2020. Frictional performance evaluation of sliding surfaces lubricated by zinc-oxide nano-additives. Surf. Eng. 36 (2), 144-157.

Emmanuel, O.A., Kessington, O.O., j. Mudiakeoghene, O., 2009. Biodegradation of vegetable oils: A review. Sci. Res. Essays 4 (6), 543-548.

Epelle, E., et al., 2017. Improving the viscosity index of used lubricating oil by solvent extraction. Int. Res. J. Eng. Technol. 4, 1581–1585.

Erhan, S.Z., Asadauskas, S., 2000. Lubricant basestocks from vegetable oils. Ind. Crop. Prod. 11 (2-3), 277-282.

Erhan, S.Z., Sharma, B.K., Perez, J.M., 2006. Oxidation and low temperature stability of vegetable oil-based lubricants. Ind. Crop. Prod. 24 (3), 292–299. Erhan, S.Z., et al., 2008. Lubricant base stock potential of chemically modified vegetable oils. J. Agricult. Food Chem. 56 (19), 8919–8925.

Farag, S., Chaouki, J., 2015. A modified microwave thermo-gravimetric-analyzer for kinetic purposes. Appl. Therm. Eng. 75, 65-72.

Fazal, M., Haseeb, A., Masjuki, H.H., 2011. Effect of temperature on the corrosion behavior of mild steel upon exposure to palm biodiesel. Energy 36 (5), 3328-3334.

Fazal, M., Haseeb, A., Masjuki, H.H., 2012. Degradation of automotive materials in palm biodiesel. Energy 40 (1), 76-83.

Forbes, 2019. EU fuel economy rule violations could cost manufacturers big. Available from: https://www.forbes.com/sites/neilwinton/2019/04/04/eu-fuel-economy-rule-violations-could-cost-manufacturers-big/?sh=75bf9cc67892.

García-Sancho, C., et al., 2017. Influence of pore size and loading for Nb2O5/SBA-15 catalysts on synthetic ester production from free fatty acids of castor oil. Mol. Catal. 436. 267–275.

García-Zapateiro, L.A., et al., 2013. Viscosity modification of high-oleic sunflower and castor oils with acid oils-derived estolides for lubricant applications. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 115 (10), 1173–1182.

Ge, J.C., Yoon, S.K., Choi, N.J., 2017. Using canola oil biodiesel as an alternative fuel in diesel engines: A review. Appl. Sci. 7 (9), 881.

Ghaednia, H., Jackson, R.L., Khodadadi, J.M., 2015. Experimental analysis of stable CuO nanoparticle enhanced lubricants. J. Exp. Nanosci. 10 (1), 1–18. Ghosh, G.K., et al., 2021. Optimization and modeling of rheological characteristics for graphene-gear oil based nanolubricant using response surface methodology. Colloids Surf. A 630, 127605.

Go, A.W., et al., 2014. Biodiesel production under subcritical solvent condition using subcritical water treated whole Jatropha curcas seed kernels and possible use of hydrolysates to grow Yarrowia lipolytica. Fuel 120, 46–52.

Go, A.W., et al., 2016. Developments in in-situ (trans) esterification for biodiesel production: A critical review. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 60, 284–305.

Gryglewicz, S., Piechocki, W., Gryglewicz, G., 2003. Preparation of polyol esters based on vegetable and animal fats. Bioresour. Technol. 87 (1), 35–39.
Guglea, D., Georgescu, C., Deleanu, L., 2022. Calculating the film thickness for the rapeseed oil in order to evaluate functioning regime. In: IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering. IOP Publishing.

Gui, M.M., Lee, K., Bhatia, S., 2008. Feasibility of edible oil vs. non-edible oil vs. waste edible oil as biodiesel feedstock. Energy 33 (11), 1646–1653. Gülüm, M., Bilgin, A., 2015. Density, flash point and heating value variations of corn oil biodiesel-diesel fuel blends. Fuel Process. Technol. 134, 456–464

Gulzar, M., 2018. Tribological Study of Nanoparticles Enriched Bio-Based Lubricants for Piston Ring-Cylinder Interaction. Springer.

Gulzar, M., et al., 2015. Improving the AW/EP ability of chemically modified palm oil by adding CuO and MoS2 nanoparticles. Tribol. Int. 88, 271–279. Gulzar, M., et al., 2016. Tribological performance of nanoparticles as lubricating oil additives. J. Nanopart. Res. 18, 1–25.

Gulzar, M., et al., 2017. Chemically active oil filter to develop detergent free bio-based lubrication for diesel engine. Energy 124, 413-422.

Guo, H., Adukure, A.R., Iglesias, P., 2019. Effect of ionicity of three protic ionic liquids as neat lubricants and lubricant additives to a biolubricant. Coatings 9 (11), 713.

Gupta, A, Verma, J. P, 2015. Sustainable bio-ethanol production from agro-residues: A review. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 41, 550-567.

Haas, M.J., 2005. Improving the economics of biodiesel production through the use of low value lipids as feedstocks: Vegetable oil soapstock. Fuel Process. Technol. 86 (10), 1087–1096.

Hájek, M., et al., 2021. The catalysed transformation of vegetable oils or animal fats to biofuels and bio-lubricants: A review. Catalysts 11 (9), 1118. Haseeb, A., et al., 2010. Effect of temperature on tribological properties of palm biodiesel. Energy 35 (3), 1460–1464.

Hassiotis, C., et al., 2014. Environmental and developmental factors affect essential oil production and quality of Lavandula angustifolia during flowering period. Ind. Crop. Prod. 62, 359–366.

He, C., et al., 2023. Modification of cottonseed oil with lipases and ionic liquid catalysts to prepare highly branched lubricant with low pour point and high viscosity. Biochem. Eng. J. 192, 108815.

Holmberg, K, Erdemir, A, 2017. Influence of tribology on global energy consumption, costs and emissions. Friction 5 (3), 263–284.

Hoogenboom, R., et al., 2009. Microwave-assisted chemistry: A closer look at heating efficiency. Aust. J. Chem. 62 (3), 236-243.

Hsu, Y.-L., Liu, C.-C., 2011. Evaluation and selection of regeneration of waste lubricating oil technology. Environ. Monit. Assess. 176, 197–212.

Hwang, H.-S., Erhan, S.Z., 2006. Synthetic lubricant basestocks from epoxidized soybean oil and Guerbet alcohols. Ind. Crop. Prod. 23 (3), 311–317. Ijaz Malik, M.A., et al., 2021. Experimental evaluation of methanol-gasoline fuel blend on performance, emissions and lubricant oil deterioration in SI engine. Adv. Mech. Eng. 13 (6), 16878140211025213.

Jacob, A., et al., 2021. Critical review on third generation micro algae biodiesel production and its feasibility as future bioenergy for IC engine applications. Energy Convers. Manage. 228, 113655.

Jaina, A.K., Suhanea, A., 2013. Capability of biolubricants as alternative lubricant in industrial and maintenance applications. Int. J. Curr. Eng. Technol. 3 (1), 179–183.

Jason, Y.J.J., et al., 2020. A study on the tribological performance of nanolubricants. Processes 8 (11), 1372.

Jayadas, N., Nair, K P. Ajithkumar, G. 2007. Tribological evaluation of coconut oil as an environment-friendly lubricant. Tribol. Int. 40 (2), 350–354. Jiang, Z., et al., 2016. Tribological properties of oleylamine-modified ultrathin WS2 nanosheets as the additive in polyalpha olefin over a wide temperature range. Tribol. Lett. 61 (3), 1–14.

Jiao, D, et al., 2011. The tribology properties of alumina/silica composite nanoparticles as lubricant additives. Appl. Surf. Sci. 257 (13), 5720–5725. Joshi, J.R., Bhanderi, K.K., Patel, J.V., 2022. A review on bio-lubricants from non-edible oils-recent advances, chemical modifications and applications.

- J. Indian Chem. Soc. 100849. Kalam, M., et al., 2011. Friction and wear characteristics of waste vegetable oil contaminated lubricants. In: Proceedings of Regional Tribology Conference 2011. RTC2011, Malaysian Tribology Society.
- Kałuzny, J., et al., 2020. The indirect tribological role of carbon nanotubes stimulating zinc dithiophosphate anti-wear film formation. Nanomaterials 10 (7), 1330.

Kappe, C.O., 2008. Microwave dielectric heating in synthetic organic chemistry. Chem. Soc. Rev. 37 (6), 1127–1139.

Karmakar, G., Ghosh, P., Sharma, B.K., 2017. Chemically modifying vegetable oils to prepare green lubricants. Lubricants 5 (4), 44.

Karmakar, A., Karmakar, S., Mukherjee, S., 2010. Properties of various plants and animals feedstocks for biodiesel production. Bioresour. Technol. 101 (19), 7201–7210.

Katna, R., Suhaib, M., Agrawal, N., 2020. Nonedible vegetable oil-based cutting fluids for machining processes-a review. Mater. Manuf. Process. 35 (1), 1-32.

Keera, S., Sabagh, S. El, Taman, A., 2018. Castor oil biodiesel production and optimization. Egypt. J. Pet. 27 (4), 979-984.

Khan, S., et al., 2022. A comparative physicochemical property assessment and techno-economic analysis of biolubricants produced using chemical modification and additive-based routes. Sci. Total Environ. 847, 157648.

Khanra, A., et al., 2022. Green bioprocessing and applications of microalgae-derived biopolymers as a renewable feedstock: Circular bioeconomy approach. Environ. Technol. Innov. 28, 102872.

Kim, D, Archer, L A, 2011. Nanoscale organic- inorganic hybrid lubricants. Langmuir 27 (6), 3083-3094.

Kim, H.J., et al., 2004. Development of heterogeneous catalyst system for esterification of free fatty acid contained in used vegetable oil. Stud. Surf. Sci. Catal. 153, 201–204.

Kober, T., et al., 2020. Global energy perspectives to 2060-WEC's world energy scenarios 2019. Energy Strategy Rev. 31, 100523.

Kopp, M., et al., 2017. Energiepark mainz: Technical and economic analysis of the worldwide largest power-to-gas plant with PEM electrolysis. Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 42 (19), 13311–13320.

Kotturu, C.M.V., et al., 2020. Investigation of tribological properties and engine performance of polyol ester-based bio-lubricant: Commercial motorbike engine oil blends. Proc. Inst. Mech. Eng. D 234 (5), 1304–1317.

Krishnamurthy, A., et al., 2021. Performance enhancement in tribological properties of lubricants by dispersing TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles. Mater. Today: Proc. 47, 6180–6184.

Kuczyński, S., et al., 2019. Experimental investigations and operational performance analysis on compressed natural gas home refueling system (CNG-HRS). Energies 12 (23), 4511.

Kulkarni, R.D., et al., 2013. Epoxidation of mustard oil and ring opening with 2-ethylhexanol for biolubricants with enhanced thermo-oxidative and cold flow characteristics. Ind. Crop. Prod. 49, 586–592.

Kutluk, T., Kutluk, B.G., 2022. Lipase catalysis: An environmentally friendly production for polyol esters (biolubricant) from microalgae oil. Environ. Technol. 1–14.

Kuzminska, M., Backov, R., Gaigneaux, E.M., 2015. Behavior of cation-exchange resins employed as heterogeneous catalysts for esterification of oleic acid with trimethylolpropane. Appl. Catal. A 504, 11–16.

Lelis, C.A., De Carvalho, A.P.A., Conte Junior, C.A., 2021. A systematic review on nanoencapsulation natural antimicrobials in foods: In vitro versus in situ evaluation, mechanisms of action and implications on physical-chemical quality. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (21), 12055.

Li, X., et al., 2006a. Surface-modification in situ of nano-SiO<sub>2</sub> and its structure and tribological properties. Appl. Surf. Sci. 252 (22), 7856–7861.

Li, B, et al., 2006b. Tribochemistry and antiwear mechanism of organic-inorganic nanoparticles as lubricant additives. Tribol. Lett. 22 (1), 79-84.

Li, W, et al., 2011. Friction and wear properties of ZrO<sub>2</sub>/SiO<sub>2</sub> composite nanoparticles. J. Nanopart. Res. 13 (5), 2129–2137.

Li, M., et al., 2020. Experimental evaluation of an eco-friendly grinding process combining minimum quantity lubrication and graphene-enhanced plant-oil-based cutting fluid. J. Clean. Prod. 244, 118747.

Lidström, P., et al., 2001. Microwave assisted organic synthesisDa review. Tetrahedron 57, 9225–9283.

López, T.D.-F., et al., 2015. Engineered silica nanoparticles as additives in lubricant oils. Sci. Technol. Adv. Mater. 16 (5), 055005.

Luo, T., et al., 2014a. Tribological properties of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> nanoparticles as lubricating oil additives. Ceram. Int. 40 (5), 7143–7149.

Luo, T., et al., 2014b. Tribology properties of Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>/TiO<sub>2</sub> nanocomposites as lubricant additives. Ceram. Int. 40 (7), 10103–10109.

Mahmud, D.N.F., et al., 2019. Influence of contact pressure and sliding speed dependence on the tribological characteristics of an activated carbon-epoxy composite derived from palm kernel under dry sliding conditions. Friction 7, 227–236.

Maleque, M.A., Masjuki, H.H., Haseeb, A., 2000. Effect of mechanical factors on tribological properties of palm oil methyl ester blended lubricant. Wear 239 (1), 117–125.

Maleque, M., Masjuki, H., Ishak, M., 1998. Bio-fuel-contaminated lubricant and hardening effects on the friction and wear of AISI 1045 steel. Tribol. Trans. 41 (1), 155–159.

Mang, T., Dresel, W., 2007. Lubricants and Lubrication. John Wiley & Sons.

Marx, S., 2016. Glycerol-free biodiesel production through transesterification: A review. Fuel Process. Technol. 151, 139-147.

Masjuki, H., Maleque, M., 1997. Investigation of the anti-wear characteristics of palm oil methyl ester using a four-ball tribometer test. Wear 206 (1-2), 179–186.

Masripan, N.A., et al., 2020. Vegetable oil as bio-lubricant and natural additive in lubrication: A review. Int. J. Nanoelectron. Mater. 13.

Mathiesen, T., 1998. Modified TMP esters as multifunctional additives in metalworking fluids. J. Synth. Lubr. 14 (4), 381-390.

McNutt, J., 2016. Development of biolubricants from vegetable oils via chemical modification. J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 36, 1-12.

Miao, X., Wu, Q., 2006. Biodiesel production from heterotrophic microalgal oil. Bioresour. Technol. 97 (6), 841–846.

Mobarak, H., et al., 2014. The prospects of biolubricants as alternatives in automotive applications. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 33, 34-43.

Mohamad Aziz, N.A., et al., 2021. Prospects and challenges of microwave-combined technology for biodiesel and biolubricant production through a transesterification: A review. Molecules 26 (4), 788.

Molefe, M., Nkazi, D., Mukaya, H.E., 2019. Method selection for biojet and biogasoline fuel production from castor oil: A review. Energy Fuels 33 (7), 5918–5932.

Mushtaq, Z., Hanief, M., 2021. Evaluation of tribological performance of Jatropha oil modified with molybdenum disulphide micro-particles for steel-steel contacts. J. Tribol. 143 (2).

Nagendramma, P., Kaul, S., 2012. Development of ecofriendly/biodegradable lubricants: An overview. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 16 (1), 764–774.

Namer, N.S., Nama, S.A., Mezher, M.T., 2019. The influence of nano particles additive on tribological properties of aa2024-t4 coated with tin or sin thin films. J. Mech. Eng. Res. Dev. 42, 30–34.

Negi, P., Singh, Y., Tiwari, K., 2021. A review on the production and characterization methods of bio-based lubricants. Mater. Today: Proc. 46, 10503-10506.

Nguyen, L.N., et al., 2023. Microalgae-based carbon capture and utilization: A critical review on current system developments and biomass utilization. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53 (2), 216–238.

Noorawzi, N., Samion, S., 2016. Tribological effects of vegetable oil as alternative lubricant: A pin-on-disk tribometer and wear study. Tribol. Trans. 59 (5), 831–837.

Noori, A.A.S., Hussein, H.A., Namer, N.S., 2019. Influence of adding CuO and MoS2 nano-particles to castor oil and moulding oil on tribological properties. In: IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering. IOP Publishing.

Nunn, N., et al., 2015. Tribological properties of polyalphaolefin oil modified with nanocarbon additives. Diam. Relat. Mater. 54, 97-102.

Otabor, G., et al., 2019. Alkyd resin from rubber seed oil/linseed oil blend: A comparative study of the physiochemical properties. Heliyon 5 (5), e01621.

Owuna, F, et al., 2020. Chemical modification of vegetable oils for the production of biolubricants using trimethylolpropane: A review. Egypt. J. Pet. 29 (1), 75–82.

Öztürk, E, 2015. Performance, emissions, combustion and injection characteristics of a diesel engine fuelled with canola oil-hazelnut soapstock biodiesel mixture. Fuel Process. Technol. 129, 183–191.

Pali, H S, Kumar, N, 2016. Comparative assessment of sal and kusum biodiesel properties. Energy Sources A 38 (22), 3391-3396.

Papargyriou, D., et al., 2019. Investigation of solid base catalysts for biodiesel production from fish oil. Renew. Energy 139, 661-669.

Parekh, K., Gaur, R., Shahabuddin, S., 2021. Recent advances in reclamation of used lubricant oil. In: Tailored Functional Materials: Select Proceedings of MMETFP, vol. 2022, pp. 273–282.

Patel, A., et al., 2021. Single-cell oils from oleaginous microorganisms as green bio-lubricants: Studies on their tribological performance. Energies 14 (20), 6685.

Pop, L, et al., 2008. Basestock oils for lubricants from mixtures of corn oil and synthetic diesters. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 85, 71-76.

Popoola, C.A., Ogundola, J., Kamtu, P., 2021a. Tribological properties of copper (II) oxide nanoparticle-enriched sandbox bio-lubricant. Glob. J. Eng. Technol. Adv. 8 (3), 008-019.

Purba, L.D.A., et al., 2022. Enhanced cultivation and lipid production of isolated microalgae strains using municipal wastewater. Environ. Technol. Innov. 27, 102444.

Qazi, S., 2017. Solar thermal electricity and solar insolation. In: Standalone Photovoltaic (PV) Systems for Disaster Relief and Remote Areas. pp. 203–237.

Rabaso, P, et al., 2014. Boundary lubrication: Influence of the size and structure of inorganic fullerene-like MoS2 nanoparticles on friction and wear reduction. Wear 320, 161–178.

Rac, A., Vencl, A., 2009. Performance investigation of chain saw lubricants based on new sunflower oil (NSO). Tribol. Schmierungstech. 56 (3), 51.

Rahman, S., et al., 2021. A ranking scheme for biodiesel underpinned by critical physicochemical properties. Energy Convers. Manage. 229, 113742. Ramos, T.C.P.M., et al., 2019. Evaluation of antioxidant potential and chemical composition blends of sunflower oil (*Helianthus annuus* L.) with coconut oil (*Cocos nucifera* L.). Orbital Electron. J. Chem. 246–252.

Raof, N.A., et al., 2022. Prospects of plant-based trimethylolpropane esters in the biolubricant formulation for various applications: A review. Front. Mech. Eng. 8, 10.

Rashed, A., Nabhan, A., 2018. Effects of TiO<sub>2</sub> and SiO<sub>2</sub> nano additive to engine lubricant oils on tribological properties at different temperatures. In: Proceedings of the 20th International Conference on Aerospace, Mechanical, Automotive and Materials Engineering. Rome, Italy.

Rashmi, W., et al., 2017. Tribological studies on graphene/TMP based nanolubricant. J. Eng. Sci. Technol 12, 365–373.

Razak, I., Ahmad, M., Fuad, N., 2019. The effects of palm oil with nanoclay additive in hydrodynamic journal bearing lubrication. Int. J. Eng. Adv. Technol. 9 (1), 5936–5942.

Rico, J.F., Battez, A.H., Cuervo, D.G.a., 2002. Wear prevention characteristics of binary oil mixtures. Wear 253 (7-8), 827-831.

del Río, J.M.L., et al., 2018. Thermophysical and tribological properties of dispersions based on graphene and a trimethylolpropane trioleate oil. J. Mol. Liq. 268, 854–866.

Rodman Oprešnik, S., et al., 2018. Real-world fuel consumption, fuel cost and exhaust emissions of different bus powertrain technologies. Energies 11 (8), 2160.

Saboya, R.M.A., et al., 2017a. Assessment of commercial resins in the biolubricants production from free fatty acids of castor oil. Catal. Today 279, 274–285.

Saboya, R. M.A., et al., 2017b. Synthesis of biolubricants by the esterification of free fatty acids from castor oil with branched alcohols using cationic exchange resins as catalysts. Ind. Crop. Prod. 104, 52–61.

Sadraddin, A.S., Haji, J.A., 2022. Regeneration of engine used oils by solvent extraction. Iraqi J. Sci. 5119-5130.

Sadvakasova, A.K., et al., 2023. Microalgae as a key tool in achieving carbon neutrality for bioproduct production. Algal Res. 103096.

Saka, S., Isayama, Y., 2009. A new process for catalyst-free production of biodiesel using supercritical methyl acetate. Fuel 88 (7), 1307-1313.

Salih, A.W., Najim, S.M., Al-Noor, J.M., 2021. Some physical, chemical and sensory properties of fish oil extracted from fish wastes by physical and chemical methods. Biol. Appl. Environ. Res. 5, 152–162.

Salih, N., Salimon, J., 2021. A review on new trends, challenges and prospects of ecofriendly friendly green food-grade biolubricants. Biointerface Res. Appl. Chem. 12, 1185–1207.

Salih, N., Salimon, J., Yousif, E., 2011. The physicochemical and tribological properties of oleic acid based triester biolubricants. Ind. Crop. Prod. 34 (1), 1089–1096.

Salimon, J., Salih, N., 2009. Preparation and characteristic of 9, 10-epoxyoleic acid  $\alpha$ -hydroxy ester derivatives as biolubricant base oil. Eur. J. Sci. Res. 31 (2), 265–272.

Salimon, J., Salih, N., Yousif, E., 2010. Biolubricants: Raw materials, chemical modifications and environmental benefits. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 112 (5), 519–530.

Salimon, J., Salih, N., Yousif, E., 2011. Synthesis, characterization and physicochemical properties of oleic acid ether derivatives as biolubricant basestocks. J. Oleo Sci. 60 (12), 613–618.

Salimon, J., Salih, N., Yousif, E., 2012a. Improvement of pour point and oxidative stability of synthetic ester basestocks for biolubricant applications. Arab. J. Chem. 5 (2), 193–200.

Salimon, J., Salih, N., Yousif, E., 2012b. Triester derivatives of oleic acid: The effect of chemical structure on low temperature, thermo-oxidation and tribological properties. Ind. Crop. Prod. 38, 107–114.

Sánchez, M.a.A., et al., 2015. Influence of the support material on the activity and selectivity of Ru–Sn–B catalysts for the selective hydrogenation of methyl oleate. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 54 (27), 6845–6854.

Sani, A.S.A., et al., 2019. Machining performance of vegetable oil with phosphonium-and ammonium-based ionic liquids via MQL technique. J. Clean. Prod. 209, 947–964.

- Sani, A.S.A., et al., 2023. Modified tamanu plant-based oil from pahang Malaysia as biodegradable metalworking fluids. Mater. Today: Proc. 75, 39–45. Satputaley, S.S., Zodpe, D., Deshpande, N., 2017. Performance, combustion and emission study on CI engine using microalgae oil and microalgae oil methyl esters. J. Energy Inst. 90 (4), 513–521.
- Saxena, A., Kumar, D., Tandon, N., 2022. Unexplored potential of acacia and guar gum to develop bio-based greases with impressive tribological performance: A possible alternative to mineral oil-based greases. Renew. Energy 200, 505–515.

Schwab, A., Bagby, M., Freedman, B., 1987. Preparation and properties of diesel fuels from vegetable oils. Fuel 66 (10), 1372-1378.

- Sen, B., et al., 2020. Wear behaviour of TiAlN coated solid carbide end-mill under alumina enriched minimum quantity palm oil-based lubricating condition. Tribol. Int. 148, 106310.
- Sen, B, et al., 2021. Eco-friendly cutting fluids in minimum quantity lubrication assisted machining: A review on the perception of sustainable manufacturing. Int. J. Precis. Eng. Manuf. Green Technol. 8, 249–280.
- Shaah, M.A.H., et al., 2021. A review on non-edible oil as a potential feedstock for biodiesel: Physicochemical properties and production technologies. RSC Adv. 11 (40), 25018–25037.
- Shankar, S., et al., 2021. Experimental studies on viscosity, thermal and tribological properties of vegetable oil (kapok oil) with boric acid as an additive. Micro Nano Lett. 16 (5), 290–298.
- Singh, A., Chauhan, P., Mamatha, T. 2020a. A review on tribological performance of lubricants with nanoparticles additives. Mater. Today: Proc. 25, 586–591.
- Singh, A., Dwivedi, S., Mishra, V, 2018. Influence of sliding speed on the tribological characteristics of pongamia oil with TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles. Int. J. Eng. Technol. 7 (4.39), 155–157.
- Singh, Y., Garg, R., Kumar, S., 2017. Effect of load on friction and wear characteristics of jatropha oil bio-lubricants. Biofuels 8 (1), 125-133.
- Singh, Y., Garg, R., Kumar, S., 2019a. Retracted article: Effect of sliding speed and temperature on the tribological behavior of pongamia oil-based blended lubricant. Energy Sources A 41 (4), 468–480.
- Singh, D., et al., 2019b. Chemical compositions, properties and standards for different generation biodiesels: A review. Fuel 253, 60-71.
- Singh, Y., et al., 2019c. Effect of alumina nanoparticles as additive on the friction and wear behavior of polanga-based lubricant. SN Appl. Sci. 1 (3), 1–9.
- Singh, Y., et al., 2020b. Development of bio-based lubricant from modified desert date oil (balanites aegyptiaca) with copper nanoparticles addition and their tribological analysis. Fuel 259, 116259.
- Soltani, M.E., et al., 2020. A comparative investigation on the tribological performance and physicochemical properties of biolubricants of various sources, a petroleum-based lubricant and blends of the petroleum-based lubricant and crambe oil. Tribol. Trans. 63 (6), 1121–1134.
- Somidi, A.K., Sharma, R.V., Dalai, A.K., 2014. Synthesis of epoxidized canola oil using a sulfated-SnO<sub>2</sub> catalyst. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 53 (49), 18668–18677.
- de Sousa, I.G., et al., 2022. Renewable processes of synthesis of biolubricants catalyzed by lipases. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 109006.

Srinivas, V., et al., 2020. Tribological properties of polyol ester-commercial motorbike engine oil blends. J. King Saud Univ., Eng. Sci..

- Sui, T., et al., 2015. Effect of particle size and ligand on the tribological properties of amino functionalized hairy silica nanoparticles as an additive to polyalphaolefin. J. Nanomater. 2015.
- Sui, T, et al., 2016. Effects of functional groups on the tribological properties of hairy silica nanoparticles as an additive to polyalphaolefin. RSC Adv. 6 (1), 393–402.
- Sui, T., et al., 2018. Dispersibility and rheological behavior of functionalized silica nanoparticles as lubricant additives. Ceram. Int. 44 (15), 18438–18443.
- Talib, N., Rahim, E.A., 2014. The performance of modified jatropha-oil based trimethylolpropane (TMP) ester on tribology characteristic for sustainable metalworking fluids (MWFs). In: Applied Mechanics and Materials. Trans Tech Publ.
- Thakre, A.A., Shinde, A., Mundhe, G., 2016. Improvement in boundary lubrication characteristics of SAE20W40 oil using aluminum oxide nanoparticles. J. Tribol. 138 (3), 034501.
- Thottackkad, M.V., Perikinalil, R.K., Kumarapillai, P.N., 2012. Experimental evaluation on the tribological properties of coconut oil by the addition of CuO nanoparticles. Int. J. Precis. Eng. Manuf. 13, 111–116.
- Transportation I.C.o.C., 2019. Japan 2030 fuel economy standards. Available from: https://theicct.org/publication/japan-2030-fuel-economy-standards/. Uflyand, I.E., Zhinzhilo, V.A., Burlakova, V.E., 2019. Metal-containing nanomaterials as lubricant additives: State-of-the-art and future development. Friction 7 (2), 93–116.
- Ugolini, L, et al., 2023. Technical performance and chemical-physical property assessment of safflower oil tested in an experimental hydraulic test rig. Lubricants 11 (2), 39.
- Unugul, T., et al., 2020. Environmentally friendly processes from coffee wastes to trimethylolpropane esters to be considered biolubricants. J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc. 70 (11), 1198–1215.
- Uppar, R., Dinesha, P., Kumar, S., 2022. A critical review on vegetable oil-based bio-lubricants: Preparation, characterization and challenges. Environ. Dev. Sustain. 1–36.
- Usman, M., et al., 2020. Experimental assessment of regenerated lube oil in spark-ignition engine for sustainable environment. Adv. Mech. Eng. 12 (7), 1687814020940451.
- Usman, M., et al., 2021. Refining and reuse of waste lube oil in si engines: A novel approach for a sustainable environment. Energies 14 (10), 2937.
- Usman, M., et al., 2022. Enviro-economic assessment of HHO-CNG mixture utilization in spark ignition engine for performance and environmental sustainability. Energies 15 (21), 8253.
- Vaitkunaite, G., et al., 2022. Low friction tribofilm formation and distribution on an engine cylinder tested with modtc-containing low viscosity engine lubricants. Tribol. Int. 171, 107551.
- Vickers, N.J., 2017. Animal communication: When i'm calling you, will you answer too? Current biology 27 (14), R713-R715.
- Vigneshwaran, S., et al., 2020. Recent advancement in the natural fiber polymer composites: A comprehensive review. J. Clean. Prod. 277, 124109. Wright, R A, et al., 2016. Oil-soluble polymer brush grafted nanoparticles as effective lubricant additives for friction and wear reduction. Angew. Chem. 128 (30), 8798–8802.
- Wu, X., et al., 2014. Tribological properties of castor oil tris (diphenyl phosphate) as a high-performance antiwear additive in lubricating greases for steel/steel contacts at elevated temperature. RSC Adv. 4 (97), 54760–54768.
- Wu, X., et al., 2018a. MoS2/WS2 quantum dots as high-performance lubricant additive in polyalkylene glycol for steel/steel contact at elevated temperature. Adv. Mater. Interfaces 5 (1), 1700859.
- Wu, N., et al., 2018b. Tribological properties of lubricating oil with micro/nano-scale WS2 particles. J. Exp. Nanosci. 13 (1), 27-38.
- Xie, H., et al., 2016. Lubrication performance of MoS2 and SiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles as lubricant additives in magnesium alloy-steel contacts. Tribol. Int. 93, 63–70.
- Xin, C., et al., 2021. Minimum quantity lubrication machining of aeronautical materials using carbon group nanolubricant: From mechanisms to application. Chin. J. Aeronaut..
- Xu, Z., et al., 2019. Pentaerythritol rosin ester as an environmentally friendly multifunctional additive in vegetable oil-based lubricant. Tribol. Int. 135, 213–218.

Yang, J., et al., 2017. Synthesis of the liquid-like graphene with excellent tribological properties. Tribol. Int. 105, 118–124.

Yaşar, F., 2020. Comparision of fuel properties of biodiesel fuels produced from different oils to determine the most suitable feedstock type. Fuel 264, 116817.

Yu, W., Xie, H., Liu, L.-H., 2011. A review on nanofluids: Preparation, stability mechanisms and applications. J. Nanomater. 2012 (711), 128.

Yunus, R., Rasheed, H.S., Zulkifli, N. W M, 2020. Wear and friction behavior of semi synthetic engine oil blended with palm oil/TMP ester and nano glass powder additive. J. Tribol. 26, 16-36.

Zarli, A., 2020. Oleochemicals: All time players of green chemistry. In: Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis. Elsevier, pp. 77-95.

Zhang, W., et al., 2020. Green preparation of branched biolubricant by chemically modifying waste cooking oil with lipase and ionic liquid. J. Clean. Prod. 274, 122918.

Zulkifli, N., Kalam, M.A., Shahabuddin, M., Masjuki, H.H., Yunus, R., 2013a. Wear prevention characteristics of a palm oil-based TMP (trimethylolpropane) ester as an engine lubricant. Energy 54, 167–173.

Zulkifli, N., et al., 2013b. Experimental analysis of tribological properties of biolubricant with nanoparticle additive. Procedia Eng. 68, 152–157.

Zulkifli, N.W.M., et al., 2013c. Wear prevention characteristics of a palm oil-based TMP (trimethylolpropane) ester as an engine lubricant. Energy 54, 167–173.